
 
 

 

 
 

 

CONSTITUTION COMMITTCONSTITUTION COMMITTCONSTITUTION COMMITTCONSTITUTION COMMITTEEEEEEEE    

    

10.00 am10.00 am10.00 am10.00 am    

 

WEDNESDAYWEDNESDAYWEDNESDAYWEDNESDAY    

7 NOVEMBER 20127 NOVEMBER 20127 NOVEMBER 20127 NOVEMBER 2012 

 

Meeting Room 6 Meeting Room 6 Meeting Room 6 Meeting Room 6 ----    Shire Hall, Shire Hall, Shire Hall, Shire Hall, 

GloucesterGloucesterGloucesterGloucester 
 

 

MEETING PAPERS 

 
 

Public Document Pack



 
 



 
 

 

 

      
 

 

CONSTITUTION COMMITTEE 
 

TIME: 10.00 am 

DATE: Wednesday 7th November, 2012 

VENUE: Meeting Room 6 - Shire Hall, Gloucester 

 
A G E N D A 

 
ITEM TOPIC CONTACT 

1. Apologies for absence  Simon Harper 
, 

2. Minutes (Pages 1 - 6)  
 To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 17 October 2012. 

 
Simon Harper 
 

3. Public Questions   
 To answer any written public questions about matters which are 

within the powers and duties of the Committee.  The closing 
date/time for receipt of questions is 10.00am on 31st October.  
To answer any oral question(s) put by members of the public with 
the consent of the Chairperson. 
 
Depending on the nature of the questions asked it may not be 
possible to provide a comprehensive answer at the meeting, in 
which case a written answer will be supplied as soon as 
reasonably possible after the meeting. 
 

Simon Harper 
 

4. Members' Questions   
 To answer any written members’ questions.  The closing 

date/time for the receipt of questions is 10.00am on 31st 
October 2012. 
 

Simon Harper 
 

5. New Standards Regime for Members (Pages 7 - 46)  
 To consider proposed new arrangements to meet the 

requirements of the Localism Act 2011including a new Code of 

Conduct for Members. 

 

Nigel Roberts 
 

6. Access to Information Regulations and changes to Contract 
Standing Orders (Pages 47 - 64) 

 

 To consider changes to the Constitution to reflect new Access to 
Information Regulations and revised Contract Standing Orders. 
 

Christine Wray 
 



 

      
 

7. New Scrutiny Structure (Pages 65 - 82)  
 To consider proposals for a new scrutiny structure following the 

May 2013 election. 

 

Cllr Rob Garnham 
 

8. Independent Remuneration Panel (Pages 83 - 84)  
 To consider the appointment of two new members to the 

Independent Remuneration Panel. 

 

Cllr Mark 
Hawthorne 
 

 

NOTES 

(a) MEMBERSHIP –Cllr Phil Awford, Cllr Mark Hawthorne, Cllr Tony Hicks, 
Cllr Jeremy Hilton, Cllr Ceri Jones, Cllr Antonia Noble, Cllr Ray Theodoulou, 
Cllr Lesley Williams and Cllr Will Windsor-Clive 
 

(b) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification 
about whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the 
Monitoring Officer: Nigel Roberts �01452 425201 /fax: 426790/e-mail: 
nigel.roberts@gloucestershire.gov.uk prior to the commencement of the 
meeting.  
 

(c) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect 
reports relating to any item on this Agenda or have any other general queries 
about the meeting, please contact  
 
Simon Harper, Lead Democratic Services Adviser  
�: 01452 425230/fax: 425850/e-mail: simon.harper@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

  

 
GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS 
 

(1) Will Members please sign the attendance list. 
 

 

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the 
meeting please leave as directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the 
assembly point which is outside the main entrance to Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  
Please remain there and await further instructions. 

 



 

- 1 - 

 

CONSTITUTION COMMITTEE 

 
MINUTES of the meeting of the Constitution Committee held on Wednesday 17th 
October, 2012 commencing at 9.00 am. 

 
 

PRESENT 
MEMBERSHIP: 

 

 Cllr Ron Allen 
Cllr Phil Awford 
Cllr Mark Hawthorne 
Cllr Jeremy Hilton 
 

Cllr Antonia Noble 
Cllr Ray Theodoulou 
Cllr Will Windsor-Clive 
 
 

Substitutes:  Cllr Ron Allen 
 

Apologies: Cllr Tony Hicks, Cllr Ceri David Jones and Cllr Lesley Williams 
 
 

Officers: Joanne Bolton, Simon Harper, Peter Jones, Christine Wray, Dilys 
Wynn 

 
14. MINUTES  

 
RESOLVED 
 
THAT the minutes of the meeting held on 11 June 2012 be approved as a correct 
record and signed by the Chairman. 
 
 

15. PUBLIC QUESTIONS  
 
No public questions were received. 
 

16. MEMBERS' QUESTIONS  
 
No members’ questions were received. 
 

17. CHANGES TO THE CONSTITUTION ARISING FROM THE REPORT BY MR 
GRAHAM GARBUTT  
 

17.1 Christine Wray, Assistant Director of Law and Administration, presented the report 
which set out the proposed changes to the Constitution flowing from the 
recommendations in the report of Graham Garbutt. 

 
17.2 Members were reminded that at the committee meeting held in March 2012, 

following publication of the Graham Garbutt report, they had endorsed a proposal 
from the Leader of the Council that the committee carry out a review of the officer 

Agenda Item 2

Page 1



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting 
 

 

- 2 - 
 

delegations set out in the Constitution and that the Chief Executive consider the 
role of the Monitoring Officer. 

 
17.3 Officer Scheme of Delegation 

 
17.3.1 The Assistant Director of Law and Administration informed the committee that the 

Council first adopted a constitution back in 2001 following implementation of the 
Local Government Act 2000.  To assist with implementation, central government 
(the Department for Environment Transport and Regions) published guidance to 
assist authorities in introducing new executive arrangements, which included a 
modular constitution.  Whilst the authority adopted many of the model clauses, 
there was no model for the officer scheme of delegation.  The authority had been 
using the same scheme since 2001, with ad hoc amendments. 

 
17.3.2 The committee was informed that a selection of other authorities’ schemes had 

been viewed in order to compare them with that of Gloucestershire County 
Council.  It appeared however that they varied widely in terms of length, degree of 
detail and reference to specific powers. 

 
17.3.3 The committee noted that the issues arising from the Graham Garbutt report 

included the need for greater clarity in requirements for consultation, the levels of 
delegation, clarity and consistency in processes of authorisation and recording of 
decisions, and for their reporting and subsequent scrutiny. 

 
17.3.4 The Assistant Director of Law and Administration explained that in light of the 

issues raised in the Graham’s Garbutt’s report, the proposed changes to the 
officer scheme of delegation meant that consultation would be mandatory where 
decisions had financial implications in excess of £250,000, or could be regarded 
as politically sensitive or contentious.  In addition, that all decisions taken by 
officers with financial implications over £250,000 should be recorded on a pro 
forma and the record maintained centrally by the Democratic Services Unit. 

 
17.3.5 Members were informed that the proposed changes to the officer scheme of 

delegation had had been piloted in four service areas (Social Care, Special 
Educational Needs, Property & Integrated Transport Unit).  However very few 
decisions were made in the time period and it was possible that the volume of 
such decisions in general could be low. 

 
17.3.6 There was concern amongst some members that the requirement to consult could 

be missed during times when officers made a series of individual but linked 
decisions, which collectively would have financial implications of over £250,000.   
 

17.3.7 The Assistant Director of Law and Administration clarified that she interpreted the 
requirement to specifically relate to policy decisions, which would influence a 
number of other decisions, and have financial implications of over £250,000.  
Consultation would not be required on an individual decision unless the financial 
implications were over £250,000.  She explained that it was the responsibility of 
the officer involved to make a judgement on whether consultation was required. 
 

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting 
 

 

- 3 - 
 

17.3.8 The Chairman raised his concerns over officers making a judgement on whether 
decisions could be deemed to be politically sensitive.  He felt difficulties would 
arise as the officer’s judgement would be open to interpretation.  In addition, 
questions were raised on whether officers would be in position to know, at the 
early decision making stage, whether the decision was likely to become politically 
sensitive.  
 

17.3.9 One member was particularly concerned that the requirement to consult, if an 
officer decision could be regarded as being sensitive or contentious by members, 
could force officers to enter into the political arena.  This would place them in a 
difficult position, and one they might not be comfortable with.  Another member felt 
that the proposed requirement would help to protect the officer in undertaking their 
decision making.  He gave the example of the decisions made around the 
Cotswold Water Park and suggested that if the proposed changes had been in 
place then, it could have enabled the officer decision to be challenged earlier on in 
the process. 
 

17.3.10 One member, also referring to the Cotswold Water Park case, believed that 
lessons could be learned, and provisions should be set out in the constitution to 
ensure that when officers were challenged on their decisions by other officers, and 
concerns were raised, the officer should be obliged to inform their lead 
officer/cabinet member for a  review their decision, and their delegated powers be 
suspended until a conclusion was drawn.  

 
17.3.11The Assistant Director of Law and Administration explained that whilst the scheme 

did require decision makers to give consideration to the need to consult, there was 
currently no formal provision for the decision to be escalated upwards to a 
Director/Cabinet Member where alternative officer advice challenged a proposed 
decision. 
 

17.3.12 The Assistant Director of Law and Administration explained that the requirement 
for decision makers to give consideration to the need for consultation had been 
included in the constitution since its introduction.  She anticipated that by making 
the requirement to consult mandatory, if decisions had financial implications over 
£250,000, or might be regarded as sensitive or contentious by members, this 
would send a clear prompt to officers.   
 

17.3.13In summary, the Chairman explained that he did not believe the proposed changes 
to the officer scheme of delegation would address the issues raised in Graham 
Garbutt’s report.  Before making a decision on whether to recommend to Council 
that the proposed changes to the officer scheme of delegation be made, the 
committee  

 
RESOLVED that 
 
(a) In respect of the proposed changes to the officer scheme of 

delegation that require the decision maker to consult if the decision 

has financial implications of over £250,000, Audit Committee be asked 

to provide clarification on the rationale behind the figure of £250,000. 

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting 
 

 

- 4 - 
 

 

(b)  Audit Committee be asked to provide clarification on the definition of 

‘sensitive or contentious to members’. 

 
(c)  Audit Committee be asked to review whether it should be made 

mandatory that an officer decision be escalated upwards to a 

Director/Cabinet Member where alternative officer advice challenged a 

proposed decision. 

 
(d)   As a result of the proposed changes the Audit Committee be asked to 

arrange for the Officer Scheme of Delegation to be subject to a ‘stress 

test’ on potential worst case scenarios to determine whether it was fit 

for purpose. 

 

(e)  Graham Garbutt be asked to provide an opinion on whether the 

proposed changes to the Officer Scheme of Delegation were sufficient 

to address the actions outlined in his report 

 

17.4 Employee Code of Conduct 

  
17.4.1 The Assistant Director of Law and Administration reported that the 

recommendations set out in Graham Garbutt’s review of the Cotswold Water Park 
included the need for revised codes of conduct for both members and employees.   

 
17.4.2 Members were informed that the Standards regime for members was a statutory 

one and the Localism Act 2011 required wholesale changes.  As a result, the 
Director of Law and Administration was taking the opportunity to update the Council 
policy in line with legislative changes and a report would be taken to the next 
Constitution Committee meeting on 7 November 2012. 

  
17.4.3 A series of proposed changes to the Code of Conduct for Employees had been 

made by the Director of People Services, and were outlined in the report. 
  
17.4.4 The committee noted that paragraph 82 of the constitution had been redrafted.  The 

section on membership of societies now reflected the Members’ Code of Conduct.  
The proposed changes meant that employees who were members of any 
organisation which was not open to the public, where there was a commitment of 
allegiance, and/or which had secrecy about rules, membership or conduct, would 
now need to declare their membership. 

 
17.4.5The Chairman stated that whilst he was not opposed to the redrafting of paragraph 

82 he felt that additional legal advice should be provided on the legalities and 
potential risks of forcing employees to declare their membership to those types of 
organisations.   

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting 
 

 

- 5 - 
 

 
17.4.6 In response to a question, the Assistant Director of Law and Administration 

confirmed that she personally had not looked at what other authorities were 
requiring their employees to declare. She explained however that this was not a 
new provision, and was actually less specific than the current paragraph in the 
constitution. 

 
17.4.7 Members recognised that the spirit of transparency needed to be encouraged to 

prevent potential conflicts of interest, and that it was essential that the principles 
relating to declaration of interests were made clear to employees.  

 
17.4.8 The committee agreed that the section on the membership of clubs, societies and 

other organisations in the Employee Code of Conduct, required further redrafting to 
include a paragraph outlining the purpose of recording the information, and to set 
out examples of potential conflicts of interests.   

 
RESOLVED that  
 
 The Director of People’s Services be asked to redraft the section on the 

membership of clubs, societies and other organisations in the employee 
code of conduct to: 

 
(a) include a paragraph outlining the purpose of recording the information. 

(b) provide examples of potential conflicts of interest. 

 
17.5 The role of the Chief Financial Officer 
  
17.5.1 The Assistant Director of Law and Administration drew members’ attention to the 

proposed revised wording of Financial Regulation E, which was in accordance 
with the recommendations made in Graham Garbutt’s report. 

 
 RESOLVED to recommend to Council that the revised wording of Financial 

Regulation E be adopted. 
 
 

18. THE ROLE OF THE MONITORING OFFICER  
 

18.1 Peter Jones, Deputy Chief Executive, introduced the report which set out 
information about the role of the monitoring officer in light of the 
recommendations in Graham Garbutt’s report, that the council should review the 
role of the Monitoring Officer and Chief Legal Adviser. 

 
18.2 He explained that the report had been considered by the Audit Committee at its 

meeting on 27 September 2012, and the comments made by members of the 
committee were included in the report. 

 

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting 
 

 

- 6 - 
 

18.3 Following consideration of the report, members indicated that they were in 
support of a mandate for changing the current designation of the post of Director 
of Law and Administration as the Council’s Monitoring Officer. 

 
 RESOLVED to recommend to Council that a separate officer post for the 

Monitoring Officer role is so designated as soon as practicable. 
 
 

19. RATIFICATION OF CHANGES TO THE CONSTITUTION  
 

19.1  Christine Wray, Assistant Director of Law and Administration, presented the 
report which sought agreement to ratify and recommend to Council, for approval 
the proposed amendments to the constitution that had been made by the 
Monitoring Officer under delegated powers. 

 
19.2 The committee was informed that the proposed changes related to the 

publication of the Constitution and the role of the independent persons on the 
Standards Committee.   

 
 RESOLVED to recommend that  
 

(a) the changes set out in Annex 1 of the report be forwarded to Council 
for ratification. 

(b) the changes set out in Annex 2 of the report be forwarded to Council 
for ratification. 

 
 

20. NEXT MEETING  
 

20.1 The committee noted that the next meeting would be held on 7 November 2012 
at 10am. 

 
 

 
CHAIRPERSON 

 
Meeting concluded at 10:30 

 
 

Page 6



1 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Purpose of Report: 
 
To seek approval for proposed new arrangements relating to the conduct of 
members and ancillary matters consequent upon the requirements of the 
Localism Act 2011. 
 
Recommendations: 
 
That Constitution Committee recommends -  
 
a) That the Council adopts one of the two draft Codes of Conduct for 

Members attached as appendices i and ii. 
b) That the Council adopts the draft procedure for investigating and 

determining allegations of member misconduct attached as appendix iv. 
c) That the Council agrees  that the existing Standards and Audit Committees 

be abolished, with their functions and responsibilities being discharged by 
the establishment of  a new Audit and Governance Committee, the draft 
terms of reference of which are attached as appendix vi. 

d) That the investigation and determination of allegations of member 
misconduct be the remit of a newly established Hearings Panel sub-
committee of the new Audit and Governance Committee, with a politically 
balanced membership of 5 county councillors. 

e) That the Council appoints the members and Chair of the Audit and 
Governance Committee at the meeting of County Council on 21st 
November 2012. 

f) That the Council agrees the principle of appointing a pool of three 
Independent Persons to consult on allegations of member misconduct.   

 
Appendices: 
 
i. Draft Code of Conduct based on the DCLG model 
ii. Alternative draft Code of Conduct based on the ACSeS model 
iii. Draft revised Register of Interests Form 
iv. Draft procedure for investigating and determining allegations of member 

misconduct 
v. Flowchart illustrating proposed allegations procedure 
vi. Draft terms of Reference for an Audit and Governance Committee 
 
Background Documents: 
 

 
CONSTITUTION COMMITTEE 

 
THE LOCALISM ACT 2011 AND A CODE OF CONDUCT FOR MEMBERS – 

PROPOSED NEW ARRANGEMENTS 

 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF LAW & ADMINISTRATION 

 

Agenda Item 5

Page 7



2 

 

Report to the Standards Committee (15th June 2012) and County Council (20th 
June 2012) entitled ‘The Localism Act 2011 And The New Standards Regime 
Incorporating A Code Of Conduct For Members’ 
 
Monitoring Officer briefing note entitled ‘The Localism Act 2011 and the New 
Standards Regime Incorporating a Code of Conduct for Members’ as circulated 
to all County Councillors on 28th June 2012. 
 
Document Author  
 
Nigel Roberts 
Director of Law & Administration & Monitoring Officer  
nigel.roberts@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

01452 425201 

 

1. Introduction and Background 
 

1.1     The Localism Act 2011 and Regulations thereunder significantly amended the 
existing statutory arrangements governing the conduct of elected members 
and established new obligations on Councils and Councillors to continue to 
ensure that high standards of member and co-opted member conduct be 
maintained and demonstrated to the public. These obligations came into force 
on 1st July 2012 and are set out in broad terms within the Act; the specific 
details of how to meet them are largely left up to local discretion.  
 

1.2        At the meeting of County Council on 20th June 2012 it was resolved:  
 

a) To agree to an interim approach from 1 July 2012, which includes 
provision for the declaration and registration of disclosable pecuniary 
interests. 

b) To appoint the current three independent members of the Standards 
Committee on a transitional basis to undertake the role of independent 
persons. 

c) To request the Director of Law and Administration (as Monitoring 
Officer) negotiate with the other six primary councils within the county in 
respect of consistent future arrangements for the discharge of the 
standards functions established by the Localism Act 2011 within all 
seven councils.  

d) To note that whatever the outcome of the negotiations with the six 
primary councils, the County Council will adopt new arrangements 
under the Localism Act 2011 in the September or October cycle of 
formal decision-making to replace the interim arrangements.   

 
1.3     Within Gloucestershire a commitment has been made to pursuing countywide 

consistency in new standards arrangements where possible; and to facilitate 
this, the Council resolutions at the meeting on 20th June (as above) took into 
account  provisions within the Localism Act to adopt transitional arrangements 
ready for 1st July while discussions across the county were conducted. 
 
2. Purpose of Report 

Page 8



3 

 

 
2.1 Following discussion between the county monitoring officers and research into 

the emerging new standards regimes of other councils, recommendations have 
been drawn up on how best the Council can meet the requirements of the 
Localism Act in the interests of good governance, accountability and 
transparency. The purpose of this report is to present recommendations for the 
kind attention and approval of the committee, for onward recommendation to 
full Council for approval on 21st November 2012 to fully meet the following 
Localism Act obligations:  
 
a) that councils introduce a code of conduct for councillors based on the 

seven ‘Nolan’ principles; 
b) that this code includes provisions for the registration and disclosure of 

pecuniary and non-pecuniary interests;  
c) that members register and disclose the pecuniary interests of themselves 

and their husband, wife, civil partner or any person they are living with as 
such, failure to  do so without reasonable excuse being a criminal offence; 

d) that councils introduce suitable arrangements for investigating and 
determining allegations of member misconduct; 

e) that these arrangements include provision for the appointment of at least 
one independent person through a suitable selection process. 

 
3. New Code of Conduct for Members 
 

3.1 Councils have a general duty to promote and maintain high standards of 
member conduct. To support this, the Localism Act requires councils to 
introduce a code of member conduct consistent with the seven Nolan 
principles of: selflessness; integrity; objectivity; accountability; openness; 
honesty; and leadership. This code applies to members only when they are 
acting in their capacity as members.    
 

3.2     As the Act is non-prescriptive in how codes of conduct should be drafted, the 
only requirement being that they meet the stipulation above, councils across 
the country have taken different approaches. Some have started from the basis 
of adapting their existing codes; and some have opted to base their provisions 
on one of the precedent/template codes produced by organisations such as the 
Local Government Association (LGA), Association of Council Secretaries and 
Solicitors (ACSeS) and the Department for Communities and Local 
Government (DCLG). This diversity of approach is reflected within the county 
of Gloucestershire, where the six district councils in the main have adopted 
different variations based on the ACSeS model, with two adapting existing 
codes.  
 

3.3  Though different, all adhere to the principles of the Localism Act; and in the 
spirit of the broad statutory discretion for local adoption given by the Localism 
Act, two draft codes are here attached as appendices i and ii for members to 
consider, based on the DCLG and ACSeS models. As a matter of law, 
adoption of either by the Council on 21st November will not only meet the 
requirements of the Localism Act, but also will not preclude this Council from 

Page 9



4 

 

continuing to pursue a countywide code of conduct in discussion with the 
districts, as the Act allows for its revision once adopted. 
  
4. Registration of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPIs) and Other 

Interests  
 

4.1     The Localism Act requires councils to make provision for the registration and 
disclosure of DPIs and other interests. It will be the responsibility of the 
Monitoring Officer to maintain a public register of all such interests, but it is the 
individual responsibility of members themselves to actually register and 
disclose their interests, failure to do so without reasonable excuse being a 
criminal offence, conviction for which can result in a £5,000 fine and 
disqualification from standing for election for up to five years.  
 

4.2 To assist members in discharging their duty to register and disclose, as well as 
meeting the Council’s obligation to make provisions for this, either of the draft 
codes of conduct clearly states what is required of members by the Act and 
how best members can operate within these requirements. They make clear 
reference to: what constitutes DPIs and other interests; whose interests need 
to be recorded; what a sensitive interest could be and what to do if a member 
suspects they have one; and the timeframes within which disclosures and 
registrations must happen. To reflect cross-county consistency, on the 
recommendation of the Monitoring Officer, they also state that members must 
leave the room during a formal Council or committee meeting while a relevant 
interest is being debated or voted on.  
 

4.3     The Council has also produced an updated register of interests form. This 
shares a notable consistency of approach to that of four of the six districts and 
has been successfully tested by new independent members of the Police and 
Crime Panel. It is attached as appendix iii for comment.  
 
5. Investigating and Determining Allegations of Misconduct 
 
Within the Localism Act there is a clear requirement for councils to put in place 
a suitable procedure for the investigation and determination of allegations of 
misconduct against members and co-opted members. In keeping with the Act’s 
less directive approach than hitherto under former arrangements, the need for 
a standards committee to oversee any investigation has been abolished with 
no suggestion as to what should replace it, and the only stipulations the Act 
makes on how allegations should be handled is that a suitable independent 
person’s view be sought in coming to any decision.  
 
5.1 The Process 
 

5.1.1 As far as possible, consistency of approach across the councils of the county is 
likely to be in the best interests of good local governance, affording as it would 
a degree of certainty, as well as less confusion, in the minds of elected 
councillors and members of the public. Within Gloucestershire, those districts 
with new procedures already in place have settled on a consistent process of 
investigating and determining allegations of member misconduct, with some 

Page 10



5 

 

differences in who carries out certain functions at each stage. Presented as 
appendix iv for comment and recommendation to Council is a draft procedure 
for investigating and determining allegations of member misconduct. It is 
broadly consistent with the approach taken at district level. Crucially, it 
complies with the requirements of the letter and spirit of the Localism Act, 
permitting as it does clear opportunities for an independent person to be 
consulted. 
 

5.1.2 It also seeks to deliver a process that is sensible, pragmatic and proportionate, 
the key features being that it: establishes discretion in determining whether or 
not to pursue a full misconduct investigation, by requiring those conducting an 
investigation to ask themselves preliminary questions designed to establish the 
seriousness of the alleged offence(s); gives clear guidance as to when in the 
process any potentially criminal conduct should be reported; and makes some 
limited provision for complainants to make representations for further 
consideration of decisions they do not agree with, allowing councils to respond 
to accusations that natural justice is being denied.        
 
5.2 The Hearings Committee/Panel 
 

5.2.1 As defined, the recommended process is one that has a substantial role for a 
hearings panel in the constitutional form of a sub-committee of the new Audit 
and Governance Committee. Under former arrangements, Standards 
Committee had overall responsibility and authority for conducting the regime of 
local determination of allegations of councillor misconduct, and this new 
proposal preserves that role in the formal member arena rather than devolving 
greater responsibility for the Monitoring Officer, as is the case with 
arrangements adopted elsewhere in the country and in Gloucestershire.  Some 
councils have opted to combine the functions of their audit and standards 
committees and establish a new sub-committee responsible for member 
complaints; others have chosen to retain a standards committee and sub-
committee to investigate complaints. Either approach would meet the 
requirements of the Localism Act, and both options are here presented for 
comment and approval.   
 

5.2.2 On balance, it is recommended that the existing Standards and Audit 
Committees be combined into a new Audit and Governance Committee, which 
would establish one single committee as the repository of a complementary set 
of responsibilities in this important area of corporate governance. Draft Terms 
of Reference for this new committee are attached as appendix vi, and describe 
a politically proportional committee of 9 members. (As proposed this would 
amount to 6 Conservative, 2 Liberal Democrat, 1 other). It also includes 
reference to a Hearings Panel to investigate and determine allegations of 
member misconduct. The law requires that as a formal sub-committee, this 
Hearings Panel must also be politically proportionate and also include a role for 
an independent person. It is recommended that it be comprised of 5 members. 
An independent person will offer advice.  
 
6. Independent Person(s) 
 

Page 11



6 

 

6.1 The draft procedure outlined in appendix iv meets the Localism Act 
requirement that at least 1 independent person have a consulting role in the 
determining of allegations of member misconduct. The Act also requires that 
this role be advertised and that appointments will be made following formal 
application on the part of interested persons. While the transitional 
arrangements brought into place for 1st July allowed the Council to appoint the 
existing independent members of the Standards Committee to the role of 
independent persons for the time being, a procedure for selecting future 
independent persons still needs to be approved.  
 

6.2 Discussions are ongoing as to whether or not it might be possible for the 
councils of the county to share a ‘pool’ of independent persons, an approach 
that has found favour elsewhere in the country.   
 

6.3 For the moment, it is recommended that an interview process for selecting 
independent persons comprises a panel of the Monitoring Officer, Chairman of 
the Audit and Governance Committee and 2 other members. It is also 
recommended that there should be at least 3 independent persons appointed, 
as otherwise the duality of role of a single appointee possibly engaging both 
with those investigating misconduct allegations and the member being 
investigated, could compromise the integrity of the process. 
 

6.4 If the establishment of the proposed Audit and Governance Committee is 
approved, it is recommended that at the meeting of County Council on 21st 
November, membership and the Chair of the new Committee be agreed, so 
that the process of appointing Independent Persons can begin without delay.   
 
7. Summary 
 
This report asks members to consider and support a set of recommendations 
as to how best the Council can meet the requirements within the Localism Act 
for a new standards regime for members, in the best interests of establishing 
public confidence, sound corporate governance, accountability for member 
conduct, and transparency of process and procedure, all meeting the rules of 
natural justice. 

Page 12



Draft Code of Conduct for Members and Co-opted Members  
Of Gloucestershire County Council 

 
When acting in your capacity as a Member or Co-opted Member of Gloucestershire 
County Council, you must show regard to the following seven principles of public life: 
 

Selflessness; Integrity; Objectivity; Accountability; Openness; 
Honesty; Leadership. 

 
In practice this will mean: 
 

1. Promoting and supporting high standards of conduct by embodying the 
principles of public life and leading by example.  

 
2. Acting solely in the public interest by never using your position to give any 

advantage, or cause disadvantage to a person; or gain any financial or other 
material benefits for yourself, your family, friends or associates.  

 
3. Not compromising yourself and the County Council by taking care to 

avoid financial or other obligations that individuals or organisations might use 
to try and influence how you perform your official duties.   

 
4. Making decisions based on merit when considering public appointments, 

awarding contracts or putting individuals forwards for rewards and benefits.   
 

5. Fully co-operating with the County Council’s scrutiny functions to be 
publicly accountable for your actions and protect the reputation of the Council 
as a whole.   

 
6. Giving reasons for the decisions and actions you and the County 
Council take in an open and honest way.  

 
7. Making sure that County Council resources are used appropriately by 

not using them for political purposes yourself, or allowing people you have 
authorised to use equipment to do so. This will mean having regard for the 
County Council’s various acceptable usage policies and any applicable Local 
Authority Code of Publicity made under the Local Government Act 1986. 

 
8. Taking all necessary steps to resolve personal conflicts of interest by 

declaring and registering your pecuniary and non-pecuniary interests using 
methods the County Council has provided, as well as removing yourself from 
positions of influence when an interest is apparent.    

 
Registering Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPIs) 
 
Members and Co-opted Members must register the DPIs of their husband or wife, 
civil partner or any person that they are living with as husband or wife or civil partner, 
as if they are their own interests, when they know about them. 
 

Appendix i 

Page 13



 
As defined in regulations made by the Secretary of State, pecuniary interests are set 
out in Annex A attached.  
 

1. You must register your DPIs with the Monitoring Officer within 28 days of 
being elected or appointed to office.  

2. You must register your DPIs within 28 days of the Authority’s Code of 
Conduct being adopted.  

3. You must notify the Monitoring Officer of any changes in your DPIs within 28 
days of becoming aware of them. 

4. You must declare any un-registered DPIs at any meeting of the authority at 
which you are present, where a relevant matter is being considered.  

5. You must register any DPIs declared at a meeting, within 28 days of the 
disclosing it.  

 
You should register any suspected ‘sensitive’ interests with the Monitoring Officer, 
who will decide if they are ‘sensitive’ and if they should go on the public Register of 
Interests. ‘Sensitive’ interests are those which you suspect could lead to yourself or 
a connected person being subject to violence or intimidation.  
 
You should be aware that not disclosing DPIs without a reasonable excuse is a 
criminal offence and could lead to investigation by the Police and your referral to the 
Director of Public Prosecutions. 
 
Registering Gifts and Hospitality 
 
The County Council also requires you to register any gifts and hospitality worth £25 
or more you have received with the Monitoring Officer. 
 

1. You must register any gifts and hospitality with the Monitoring Officer within 
28 days of being elected or appointed to office.  

2. You must register any gifts and hospitality within 28 days of the Authority’s 
Code of Conduct being adopted.  

3. You must register any gifts and hospitality with the Monitoring Officer within 
28 days of receiving them.  

4. You must declare any gifts and hospitality at any meeting of the authority at 
which you are present, where a relevant matter is being considered.  

5. You must register any gifts and hospitality declared at a meeting, within 28 
days of disclosing it.  

 
The Effect of DPIs on Participation 
 

1. Unless a dispensation has been granted, you many not participate in any 
discussion of, vote on, or discharge any function related to any matter in 
which you have a pecuniary interest.  

2. Unless a dispensation has been granted, you must withdraw from the room or 
chamber when a meeting discusses and votes on any matter in which you 
have a DPI.   

Page 14



Page 15



Page 16



Page 17



Page 18



1 

 

 

Gloucestershire 
County  
Council  
 
 
Code of Conduct  
for Members and Co-opted 
Members  
 
together with  
 
 
The Rules for Registration of 
Interests  
and Conflicts of Interests  
 

Appendix ii 

Page 19



2 

 

CONTENTS  
Page  

 
PART 1  
 
The Code of Conduct  
for Members and Co-opted members of the Gloucestershire County Council  
 
I. Purpose of the Code          3  
 
II. Scope of the Code          3  
 
III. Public Duties of Members         3  
 
IV. General Principles of Conduct        4  
 
V. Expectations of Conduct         5  
 
VI. Rules of Conduct          5  
 
VII. Registration and Declaration of Interests       6  
 
VIII. Duties in respect of the Hearings Panel and the Monitoring Officer   7  
 
PART 2  
 
Registration, Disclosure and Duties on Interests held by Members  
 
I. Registration of Interests          8  
 
II. Disclosure and Duties in Respect of Interests      10 
 

Page 20



3 

 

PART 1  
The Code of Conduct for Members of Gloucestershire County Council  
 
pursuant to Chapter 7 of the Localism Act 2011  
 
I. Purpose of the Code  
 

1. The Purpose of this Code of Conduct is to assist Members (including co-opted 
Members) in the discharge of their obligations to the Council, their local 
communities and the public at large by:  

 
(1) setting out the standards of conduct that are expected of Members 
and co-opted Members of the Council when they are acting in that 
capacity, and in so doing  
(2) providing the openness and accountability necessary to reinforce 
public confidence in the way in which Members perform those 
activities.  

 
II. Scope of the Code  
 

2. The Code applies to Members in all aspects of their activities as a Member,  
including when acting on Council business, division business or when 
otherwise purporting to act as a Member. It does not seek to regulate what 
Members do in their purely private and personal lives.  

 
3. The obligations set out in this Code are complementary to those which apply 

to all Members by virtue of the procedural and other rules of the Council and 
the rulings of the Chair.  

 
4. The obligations set out in this Code are also complementary to, and include 

those obligations which apply to Members falling within the scope of related 
Codes and Protocols of the Council, specifically.  

 

• the Member/Officer Relation Protocol  

• the Code of Conduct for Members and officers dealing with planning 
matters  

• the Acceptable ICT Usage Policy  
 
III. Public Duties of Members  
 

5. Members have a duty to uphold the law, including the general law against 
discrimination and the requirements of the Localism Act, and to act on all 
occasions in accordance with the public trust placed in them.  

 
6. Members have an overriding duty to act in the interests of the County’s area 

as a whole, but also have a special duty to represent the views of the 
residents and communities of their division.  

 

Page 21



4 

 

 
IV. General Principles of Conduct  
 

7. In carrying out their duties in exercising the functions of the Council or  
otherwise acting as a councillor, Members will be expected to observe the 
following general principles of conduct identified by the committee on 
Standards in Public Life in its First Report as applying to a holder of public 
office. These principles will be taken into consideration when any allegation is 
received of breaches of the provisions of the Code.  

 
Selflessness  
Holders of public office should take decisions solely in terms of the public interest. 
They should not do so in order to gain financial or other material benefits for 
themselves, their family or their friends.  
 
Integrity  
Holders of public office should not place themselves under any financial or other 
obligation to outside individuals or organisations that might influence them in the 
performance of their official duties.  
 
Objectivity  
In carrying out public business, including making public appointments, awarding 
contracts, or recommending individuals for rewards and benefits, holders of public 
office should make choices on merit.  
 
Accountability  
Holders of public office are accountable for their decisions and actions to the public 
and must submit themselves to whatever scrutiny is appropriate to their office.  
 
Openness 
Holders of public office should be as open as possible about all the decisions and 
actions that they take. They should give reasons for their decisions and restrict 
information only when the wider public interest clearly demands. 
 
Honesty  
Holders of public office have a duty to declare any private interests relating to their 
public duties and to take steps to resolve any conflicts arising in a way that protects 
the public interest.  
 
Leadership  
Holders of public office should promote and support these principles by leadership 
and example.  
 
V. Expectations of Conduct  
 

8. Members shall base their conduct on a consideration of the public interest, 
avoid conflict between personal interest and the public interest and resolve 
any conflict between the two at once, and in favour of the public interest.  

 

Page 22



5 

 

9. Members shall at all times ensure that their use of expenses, allowances 
facilities and services provided from the public purse is strictly in accordance 
with the rules laid down on these matters, and that they observe any limits 
placed by the Council on the use of such expenses, allowances, facilities and 
services.  

 
10. Members shall at all times conduct themselves in a manner which will tend to 

maintain and strengthen the public’s trust and confidence in the integrity of the 
Council and never undertake any action which would bring the Council, or its 
Members or officers generally, into disrepute.  

 
VI. Rules of Conduct  
 

11. Members shall in particular observe the following rules when acting as a 
Member or co-opted Member of the Council:  

 
(1) Do treat others with respect  
 
(2)  Do be aware of the requirements of the Bribery Act 2010 and that 

offences under the Act include the situation where a member accepts 
any financial advantage for an improper purpose  

 
(3)  Do not do anything which may cause the Council to breach any of the 

equality enactments (as defined in the Equality Act 2010)  
 
(4)  Do not bully any person  
 
(5)  Do not do anything which compromises or is likely to compromise the 

impartiality of those who work for, or on behalf of, the Council  
 
(6)  Do not disclose information given to you in confidence by anyone, or 

information acquired by you which you believe, ought reasonably to be 
aware, is of a confidential nature except where –  

 
(i) you have the consent of a person authorised to give it;  

 
(ii)  you are required by law to do so;  

 

Page 23



6 

 

(ii)  the disclosure is made to a third party for the purpose of 
obtaining professional legal advice provided that the third party 
agrees not to disclose the information to any other person; or  

 
(iii)  the disclosure is: -  

 
(a) reasonable and in the public interest; and  
 
(b) made in good faith and in compliance with the reasonable 
requirements of the Council  

 
(7) Do not prevent another person from gaining access to information to 

which that person is entitled by law 
  

12.  Members shall observe the following rules when using the resources of the 
Council, or authorising the use of those resources by others:  
 
(1)  Do act in accordance with the authority’s reasonable requirements 

including the requirements of the Council’s IT policy and the policies  
as set out in this Code which you are deemed to have read;  

 
(2)  Do make sure that such resources are not used improperly for political 

purposes (including party political purposes); and  
 

(3)  Do have regard to any applicable Local Authority Code of Publicity 
made under the Local Government Act 1986  

 
(4)  Do not improperly use knowledge gained solely as a result of your role 

as a Member for the advancement of your own interests.  
 

13. Members shall observe the following rules when making decisions on behalf 
of or part of the Council:  

 
(1)  Do have regard to any relevant advice provided to you by the Council’s 

Chief Financial Officer and Monitoring Officer where such advice is 
offered pursuant to his or her statutory duties;  

 
(2)  Do give reasons for the decisions in accordance with any statutory 

requirements and any reasonable additional requirements imposed by  
the Council.  
 

VII. Registration and Declaration of Interests  
 

14. Members shall fulfil conscientiously the requirements of the Council in respect 
of the registration of interests in the Register of Members’ Interests and, 
where it is required or appropriate to do so, shall always draw attention to any 
relevant interest in any proceedings of the Council or its Committees, or in 
any communications with the Council, its Members or officers, as required in 
Part 2. 

 

Page 24



7 

 

VIII. Duties in respect of the Council’s Hearings Panel and the Monitoring 
Officer  
 

15. The application and guidance on the application of this Code shall be a matter 
for the Council and for the Council’s Hearings Panel and, as appropriate, the 
Monitoring Officer, acting in accordance with their terms of reference.  
 

16. Members shall co-operate, at all stages, with any investigation into their 
conduct by or under the authority of those persons and shall not seek to 
intimidate or influence any person who is or is likely to be a complainant, a 
witness or involved in the administration of any investigation or proceedings in 
relation to an allegation that a Member has failed to comply with the 
authority’s code of conduct.  
 

17. No Member shall lobby a member of the Council’ Hearings Panel in a manner 
calculated or intended to influence their consideration of a complaint of a 
breach of this Code otherwise than in accordance with the arrangements laid 
down by the Council. 

 

Page 25



8 

 

PART 2  
Registration, Disclosure and Duties on Interests  
held by Members and Co-opted Members of  
Gloucestershire County Council  
 

I.  Registration of Interests  
 

1. Do fulfil the requirements of the law and the Council in registering your 
interests in the Register of Members’ Interests. 
 

2. Do draw attention to any relevant interest, where it is required or appropriate 
to do so, in any proceeding of the Council or its Committees with which you  
are involved or in any communications with any colleague, officer or outside  
body in your role as a Member.  
 

3. Do approach the Monitoring Officer if you feel that your interest should be 
treated as sensitive because it could lead to you, or a person connected with 
you, being subject to violence or intimidation.  

 
Part A: Disclosable Pecuniary Interests  
 
Such interests of:  
 

(1)  the Member, or  
 
(2)  the Member’s spouse or civil partner, or  
 
(3)  a person with whom the Member is living as husband and wife, or  
 
(4)  a person with whom the Member is living as if they were civil partners 

and the Member is aware that that other person has the interest  
 
Please note:  
 

• any person mentioned in 2, 3 & 4 above is known as a “relevant person”  

• “Member” includes co-opted Member  
 
Subject  

 
Prescribed description  

Employment, office, 
trade, profession or 
vocation  

 

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on 
for profit or gain  

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than 
from the relevant authority1) made or provided within the relevant 
period2

 in respect of any expenses incurred the member in 

                                                           
1
 “relevant authority” means the authority of which the Member is a member   

2
 “relevant period” means a period of 12 months ending on the day on which the Member gives a 

notification to the Monitoring Officer of any Disclosable Pecuniary Interest.  

Page 26



9 

 

carrying out duties as a member, or to divisions the election 
expenses of the member.  
This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade union 
within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour relations 
(Consolidation) Act 1992.  

Contracts 

 
Any contract which is made between the relevant person (or a 
body3

 in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest) and 
the relevant authority:  
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are 
to be executed; and  
(b) which has not been fully discharged.  

Land4 

 
Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the 
relevant authority  
NB This includes the property in which a member resides  

Licences 

 
Any licence to occupy land in the area of the relevant authority for 
a month or longer  

Corporate tenancies  
 

Any tenancy where to the member’s knowledge  
(a) the landlord is the relevant authority; and  
(b) the tenant is a body5

 in which the relevant person has a 
beneficial interest  

Securities6 

 
(a) Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where  
(b) that body (to the member’s knowledge) that has a place of 
business or land in the area of the relevant authority; and  
(c) either:  
(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25000 or 
1/100th of the total issued share capital of that body, or  
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the 
total nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the 
relevant person has a beneficial interest which exceeds 1/100th of 
the total issued share capital of that class  

 
PART B Other Interests (Gifts and Hospitality)  

 
any gifts or hospitality worth more than an estimated value of £25 
which  the Member has received by virtue of his / her office.  

 

Disclosure and Duties in Respect of Interests  
 

1.  Declaration of interests not included in the Register  
 

(1)  Do ensure, if you have an interest that is not entered in the Council’s 
register, that:  

 

                                                                                                                                                                                     

3 “body in which the member has a beneficial interest” means (a) a firm in which   
3
 “body in which the member has a beneficial interest” means (a) a firm in which the Member is a partner, or 

(b) a body corporate of which the Member is a director, or (c) in the securities of which the Member has a 

beneficial interest   
4
 “Land” excludes as easement, servitude, interest or right in or over land which does not carry with it a right 

for the Member to occupy the land or to receive income   
5
 See footnote 3   

6
 “Securities” means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a collective investment 

scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000, and other securities of any 

description, other than money deposited with a building society   

Page 27



10 

 

(a)  where you are present at a meeting of the Council or of any 
committee, sub-committee, joint committee or joint sub-
committee of the Council, you disclose the interest to the 
meeting (unless the Monitoring Officer considers that it is a 
sensitive interest); and  

 
(b)  you notify the Council’s Monitoring Officer of the interest before 

the end of 28 days beginning with the date of the disclosure 
(unless it is subject of a pending notification)  

 
(2)  Do then act accordingly  
 
(3)  Do ensure that you register any interest not included in the Register 

within 28 days.  
 
2.  Disclosable Pecuniary Interests  
 

(1)  Do ensure, where you  
 

(a)  are present at a meeting of the Council or of any committee, 
sub-committee, joint committee or joint sub-committee of the 
Council; and  

 
(ii) are or become aware that you have a disclosable pecuniary 

interest in any matter to be considered or being considered, at 
the meeting,  

 
that you  
 

• do not participate, or participate further, in any discussion of the matter at the 
meeting; and  

 

• do not participate in any vote, or further vote, taken on the matter at the 
meeting; and  

 

• leave the meeting during discussion and voting  
 

(2)  Do ensure, where you  
 

(i)  are to discharge a function of the Council acting alone, and  
 
(ii)  are or become aware that you have a disclosable pecuniary 

interest in any matter to be dealt with, or being dealt with, in the 
course of discharging that function  

 
that you 
  

• do not take any steps, or any further steps, in relation to the matter (except 
for the purpose of enabling the matter to be dealt with otherwise than by the 
Member).  

Page 28



11 

 

 
(3)  Do make a written request made to the Monitoring Officer if you 

consider it appropriate that the Council grant a dispensation relieving 
you from either or both of the restrictions in paragraph 2(1) 

  
(4)  Do be aware that in respect of disclosable pecuniary interests, failing to 

act as required by the Localism Act (as outlined here) is a criminal 
offence.  

 
3.  General  
 

(1) Do act in accordance with the Council’s Procedure Rules where you 
 
 

(a)  are present at a meeting of the Council or of any committee, 
sub-committee, joint committee or joint sub-committee of the 
Council;  

(b)  are or become aware that you have a disclosable pecuniary 
interest in any matter to be considered, or being considered, or 
being considered, at the meeting; and  

(iii)  leave the meeting during discussion and voting on the item.  
 

(2) Do base your conduct when acting as a Member on a consideration of 
the public interest, avoiding conflict between your personal interest and 
the public interest and resolve any conflict between the two, at once, 
and in favour of the public interest. 

Page 29



Page 30

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

REGISTER OF MEMBERS’ INTERESTS 
 

NOTICE OF DISCLOSURE OF PECUNIARY AND OTHER INTERESTS  
  
 
I,        a Member or Co-opted Member of 
Gloucestershire County Council, set out below under the appropriate headings the interests 
which I am required to declare under the Localism Act 2011 and the Council’s Code of 
Conduct and I have put ‘none’ where either I have no such interests under any heading or I 
am unaware of such an interest.  

 
When completing this register please be aware that: 

 
1. You need to fill in, sign and return this notice to the Monitoring Officer within 

28 days of being elected or appointed to office. 
 

2. You need to fill in, sign and return this notice to the Monitoring Officer within 
28 days of the Authority’s Code of Conduct being adopted.  
 

3. You need to write to the Monitoring Officer to let them know about any 
changes in your interests within 28 days of becoming aware of them. 
 

4. Your Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPIs) include those of your husband, 
wife, civil partner or person you are living with as husband, wife or civil 
partner.  
 

5. You need to inform the Monitoring Officer in writing within 28 days of receiving 
any gifts or hospitality worth £25 or more in your capacity as a Member.  
 

6. You need to be aware that the Localism Act 2011 created criminal offences in 
relation to the disclosure of pecuniary interests. It is now a criminal offence to: 

 
a) not register a DPI you are aware of within 28 days of election or              

re-election; 
b) debate or vote in a meeting where you have a registered or unregistered 

DPI; 
c) not declare an unregistered DPI you become aware of at a meeting; 
d) not inform the Monitoring Officer in writing of a previously unregistered DPI 

declared at a meeting; 
e) give false or misleading information about any registration or be reckless 

as to its accuracy; 
f) take any steps or actions on a matter in which you have a DPI other than 

referring it elsewhere. 
 

7. You need to be aware that not disclosing DPIs without a reasonable excuse 
could lead to investigations by the Police and your referral to the Director of 
Public Prosecutions. Conviction of an offence could result in a £5,000 fine.   

Appendix iii 

Page 31



PART A 
DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS  

 
 

Members must register the interests of their husband or wife, civil partner or any 
person that they are living with as husband or wife or civil partner, as if they are their 

own interests, when they know about them. 
 
1. EMPLOYMENT, OFFICE, TRADE, PROFESSION OR VOCATION  
 
Please list work you or the persons referred to above are doing for profit or gain.  

 
2. SPONSORSHIP  
 
Please list payments or other financial benefits you or the persons referred to above 
have been provided as election or other expenses as part of your duties as a Member 
from organisations other than Gloucestershire County Council in the last 12 months.   

 
 
3. CONTRACTS  
 
Please list contracts between you, or the persons referred to above, or a body in 
which you or they have a beneficial interest and Gloucestershire County Council  
 

a) in which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be executed; and  
b) which has not been fully discharged.  

 

e.g. anything you have received from a political party or a trade union 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 32



 
 
4. LAND  
 
Please list beneficial interests in land within the area of Gloucestershire County 
Council. 

 
5. LICENCES  
 
Please provide details of licences (held alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in 
the area of Gloucestershire County Council for a month or longer.  

 
6. CORPORATE TENANCIES 
 
Please provide details of tenancies in which the tenant is a body you or the persons 
referred to above have a beneficial interest in and the landlord is Gloucestershire 
County Council.  
 

e.g. ongoing contracts to provide cleaning or office services 
 
 
 
 
 
 

e.g. your home, and any other land that you own, including any land or building that 
you or the persons referred to above receive rent from 
 
 
 
 
 
 

e.g. permission to erect temporary buildings 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 33



7.  SECURITIES  
 
Please provide details of any beneficial interest in securities of a body with a place of 
business or land within the area of Gloucestershire County Council where either: 
  
a) the total value of your securities are more than £25,000 or one hundredth of the 

total issued share capital of that body; or 
b) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal value 

of the shares of any one class in which you, or the persons referred to above, has 
a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital of 
that class.  

 
Please Note: after completing Part A, if you think that you have listed a ‘sensitive’ interest 

that could lead to you or a connected person being subject to violence or intimidation, please 
let the Monitoring Officer know. If the Monitoring Officer feels that you do have a ‘sensitive’ 

interest, the interest will not be put on the public register of interests. 
 

PART B 
GIFTS AND HOSPITALITY 

Members are required to register any gifts and hospitality worth £25 or more provided to 
them or the persons referred to above in their capacity as a Councillor.  

 
8.  GIFTS AND HOSPITALITY   
 
Please name supplying persons, organisations, companies and other bodies. 

e.g. shareholdings  
 
 
 
 
 

e.g. tickets, trips and meals. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

e.g. buildings and land rented/leased from the County Council such as farmland  

 

Page 34



PART C 
OTHER INTERESTS  

 
Members are asked to voluntarily register any other interest held by the Member only. 

 
9.  MANAGEMENT OR CONTROL  
 
Bodies you have been appointed to or nominated to by the County Council.  

 
10.  PUBLIC / CHARITABLE AND OTHER EXTERNAL BODIES  
 
Bodies you are a member of or in a position of general control or management of, 
that:  
 

a) exercise functions of a public nature;  
b) have charitable purposes;  
c) or seek to influence public opinion or policy.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

PLEASE ENSURE THAT YOU SIGN THE DECLARATION ON THE NEXT PAGE. 
 

e.g. boards, partnership organisations and project groups. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

e.g. political parties, trade unions, charitable organisations and groups that act like 
pressure groups who are actively trying to influence public opinion or policy.  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 35



DECLARATION 
 

 
I recognise that it may be an offence under the Localism Act 2011 to:-  
 

1) omit information that ought to be given in the Notice;  
 
2) provide information that is materially false or misleading;  

 
3) fail to provide further information in order to bring up to date information 

given in this Notice and/or declare a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest that I 
acquired after the date of this notice and am obliged to declare under the 
provisions of Section 31(2) of the Localism Act 2011;  

 
I also acknowledge that it may be a breach of the Code of Conduct to:-  
 

1) omit information that ought to be given in this Notice;  
 
2) provide information that is materially false or misleading;  

 
3) fail to provide written notification to the Monitoring Officer of any change in 

my interests contained in this Notice within 28 days of my becoming aware 
of such change of circumstances.  

 
I understand that under Section 29 of the Localism Act 2011 there is a legal 
requirement for the Register of Members’ Interests to be published on the internet.  
 
 
 
 
 

 
When completed, please return this form to the Director of Law and Administration, 
Quayside House, Quay Street, Gloucester, GL1 2TZ 
 

 
 

Received: ......................................, Monitoring Officer – Gloucestershire County 
Council  

 
 
 

Dated: .................................................................... 
 
 
 
 

 
Signed: ................................................................ Dated: ..................................... 
.................................................... 

Page 36



Draft Arrangements for Dealing with Allegations of Member Misconduct  
Under the Localism Act 2011: Gloucestershire County Council 

 
Statutory Position 
 
The Localism Act 2011 places a general duty on Local Authorities to ensure that high 
standards of Member and co-opted Member conduct are maintained and 
demonstrated to the public. As part of this, it requires councils to have a procedure in 
place to investigate and determine allegations that Members have breached the 
Council’s Code of Conduct for Members; this must involve seeking the opinion of an 
Independent Person before any decision is taken.  
 
Allegations are commonly referred to as complaints. 
 
Gloucestershire County Council has responded to these requirements by introducing 
a new councillor complaints procedure with clearly defined responsibilities for 
Independent Persons. Its arrangements are set out below: 
 
Definition of an allegation of misconduct against Councillors: a complaint made 
against a Member or Co-opted Member of the Council alleging that they have broken 
the Council’s Code of Conduct for Members. Complaints can be made by anyone. 
Note: the Members’ Code of Conduct is available on the Council’s website and also 
on request in paper form from Shire Hall. 
 
Role of the Monitoring Officer: a senior officer with a statutory responsibility for 
maintaining the Members’ Register of Interests, and a non-statutory responsibility to 
administer the Council’s complaints procedures against Councillors. 
 
Role of the Independent Person: an Independent Person whose view is sought by 
the Monitoring Officer to determine if an allegation of misconduct warrants a full 
investigation, and whose view is sought by the Hearings Panel to determine if a 
member has broken the Council’s Code of Conduct. Note: the Council has appointed 
three Independent Persons and given them different responsibilities in this process.  
 
Role of the Investigating Officer: to conduct an impartial investigation into an 
allegation of Member misconduct on the referral of the Monitoring Officer. This role 
can be taken on by a senior officer or external person. 
 
Role of the Hearings Panel: to hear allegations of Member misconduct once the 
Investigating Officer has concluded that there is evidence of misconduct and the 
Monitoring Officer has been unable to resolve the matter through local resolution. To 
determine if a Member has engaged in misconduct and take sanctioning actions if 
required. The Hearings Panel is a sub-committee of the Audit and Governance 
Committee. It is comprised of 5 politically proportionate County Councillors. 
 
Stage 1: Initial Assessment of Complaint 
 

• The Monitoring Officer (MO) receives a complaint or allegation that a Member 
of the Council has broken the Council’s Code of Conduct.    

Appendix iv 

Page 37



Criteria for Determining if Allegations Warrant Full Investigations 
 

Q1. Has the complainant submitted enough information to satisfy the MO and/or 
Hearings Panel that the complaint should be referred for investigation? 
If no, no further action will be taken. 

Q2. Has the complaint already been the subject of an investigation or other 
action by the County Council or another regulatory authority? 
If yes, it is likely that no other action will be taken unless there is a clear 
interest in doing so. 

Q3. Is the complaint about something that happened so long ago there would be 
little benefit in taking action today? 
If yes, it is unlikely that any further action will be taken. 

Q4. Is the complaint too trivial to warrant further action? 
If yes, no further action will be taken. 

Q5. Does the complaint appear to be malicious, politically motivated or tit for 
tat? 
If yes, it is unlikely that any further action will be taken. 

Q6. Was the complaint made anonymously? 
If yes, it is unlikely that any further action will be taken.  

Q7. Would an investigation serve any public benefit? 
If no, an investigation is unlikely but other appropriate actions may be 
considered.  

Actions Available to the Monitoring Officer at this stage 
 

1. The complaint could be rejected with reasons. 
2. The complaint could be judged to have merit. Once this decision has been 

made there are three further options available to the MO.  
a)  If there appears to be criminal misconduct, the MO will refer the case to 

the Police. 
b) The MO can attempt to resolve the complaint informally by getting the 

Member to acknowledge that their conduct was unacceptable and 
apologise, or engage in other remedial actions on behalf of the authority. 

c) The MO can appoint an Investigating Officer to fully investigate the 
complaint. 
Note: though there is no right of appeal, both complainant and the subject 
of the complaint can make representations to the MO if they disagree with 
the decision. 

• The MO will send an acknowledgement of receipt within 5 working days and 
take a decision as to its substance within 14 working days. If these timescales 
look likely to be missed, the MO will let the complainant know.  

• It is the MOs role to review the substance of the complaint and any supporting 
material and decide if the complaint warrants a full investigation. This is done 
against a set of relevant questions in consultation with an Independent 
Person. 

 

• After reviewing the complaint, the MO could write to the complainant 
requesting additional information and at this stage could also contact the 
Member being complained about for information.   

• Once the initial assessment is complete, the MO will write to the complainant 
to inform them of their decision and give reasons for it.  

Page 38



Actions Available to the Monitoring Officer at this stage 
 

1. The MO can ask the IO to reconsider their report if not satisfied the 
investigation was conducted properly. 

2. If the report concluded that there was no evidence of misconduct, the MO 
can write to the complainant and the Member concerned to say that the 
investigation has concluded and that no further action will be taken. 

3. If the report concluded that there is evidence of a breach of the Code, the 
MO can suggest that a local resolution is sought.  

4. If the report concluded that there is evidence of a breach of the Code, the 
MO can refer the matter for local hearing before the Hearings Panel.   

Stage 2: Investigation by Investigative Officer 
 

• If the MO decides that the complaint has merit and local resolution either fails 
or is not appropriate, the MO will appoint an Investigating Officer, (IO), (likely 
another senior officer or external person), to conduct a thorough and full 
investigation of the complaint.  

• At this stage, the IO will write to the Member being complained about to 
provide them with a copy of the complaint in writing, and ask them if they 
would like to offer their explanation of events and provide any supporting 
material. Note: unless there is a valid reason not to do so, the Member will be 
told the identity of the complainant.  

• The Member who has been accused of misconduct can request the view of an 
Independent Person. Note: the Council has decided that this will be an 
Independent Person not involved in the decision to investigate the complaint.  

• At this stage, the IO has discretion to decide if they need to speak directly to 
the complainant for further clarity as to the nature and circumstances of the 
complaint and any additional information. 

• Consideration of written materials and scheduled interviews are the main 
methods of investigation available to the IO. 

• After concluding the investigation, the IO will produce a draft report with 
conclusions that will be circulated in confidence to the complainant and the 
Member for comment. Both will have the opportunity to identify elements 
within the report that they disagree with and believe require further 
consideration.  

• After taking any comments into account, the IO will send a final report to the 
MO stating: agreed facts; facts not agreed and corresponding conflicting 
evidence; and a conclusion as to if there has been a breach in the Code. 

• The MO will consider the report and take a decision as to if the matter 
requires further consideration or not. 

 
Stage 3: Local Resolution or Referral to the Hearings Panel 
 

• If the MO believes that the matter can be solved through local resolution, a 
consultation process will begin with the complainant and the Independent 
Person to try and determine what fair resolution/restitution would be. This 
could include the Member accepting that their conduct was unacceptable and 
apologising or other actions taken on behalf of the authority.  

Page 39



Delegated Powers Available to the Hearing Panel for Sanctioning Purposes 
 

a) Censure; 
b) Report to Council; 
c) Recommend actions to the Leader of the Council; 
d) Recommend actions to Group Leader; 
e) Removal from Outside Bodies; 
f) Withdrawal of facilities, such as Council email/website/internet access; 
g) Exclusion for the Council offices or other premises with the exception of 

meeting rooms as necessary for attending Council, Committees or Sub-
Committees and/or nominating a single point of contact; and/or 

h) Requesting the Member to undertake actions deemed appropriate e.g. 
training, issue of an apology 

• If an agreement can be reached with the complainant that the Member is 
happy to comply with, the MO will report the matter to the Audit and 
Governance Committee for information but no further action will be taken. If 
the Member refuses, the matter will be referred to the Hearings Panel.   

• If no agreement can be reached with the complainant, the Monitoring Officer 
may, but does not have to, refer the matter to the Hearings Panel.  

• Once a matter is referred to the Hearings Panel, the MO will provide the Panel 
with the IO’s report and a hearing will taken place to determine if the Member 
has breached the Code of Conduct for Members.  

• Opportunities for representations by the IO, complainant, Member and their 
witnesses will be given before any decision is made.  

• Another Independent Person not involved in the decision to investigate the 
allegation, will be consulted for their view before any decision is made. 

• If after consulting the Independent Person the Panel decides that the Member 
did not breach the Code of Conduct, no further action will be taken and all 
parties will be informed. Note: while representations can be made by the 
complainant, there is no automatic right of review.  

• If the Panel decides the Member did breach the Code, the second 
Independent Person will be consulted on possible sanctions and the Member 
will be given the opportunity to make representations on their own behalf.  
 

 

• Once the Hearing is concluded, the Monitoring Officer shall prepare a formal 
decision notice in consultation with the Chair of the Hearings Panel and send 
copies to the complainant and Member concerned. The decision notice will 
also be made available for public inspection and reported to the next 
convenient meeting of the Council.  

Page 40



Flowchart outlining the draft Procedure for Investigating and Determining Allegations of 

Member Misconduct (also known as complaints against Councillors)  

 

 
Complaint with supporting 

evidence received in writing by 

Monitoring Officer 

Monitoring Officer acknowledges 

complaint within 5 working days and 

seeks additional information/supporting 

evidence if required 

Subject member contacted for 

response 

Monitoring Officer to consider the 

complaint in consultation with an 

Independent Person 

Decision by Monitoring Officer within 

14 working days of fully evidenced 

complaint 

Complaint 

rejected 

with 

reasons 

Preliminary tests: 

Acting in capacity as member? 

Was member in officer at time of the alleged 

breach? 

Very minor or trivial matter? 

Vexatious or malicious? 

Historical? 

Potential breach of the Code? 

Assessment of public interest? 

Investigation report to 

include: 

Agreed facts; 

Facts not agreed and 

corresponding conflicting 

evidence; 

Conclusion whether or not 

a breach of the Code 

 

Potentially 

criminal conduct/ 

breach of other 

regulations – 

referral to police 

Monitoring Officer 

explores informal 

resolution (i.e. 

mediation, apology 

etc) 

Investigating 

Officer appointed 

Referral to Hearings Panel for 

hearing 

No further action 

Formal decision/action 

Informal resolution  

Panel to arbitrate on facts 

and concludes whether a 

breach of the Code of 

Conduct has occurred. 

Decision made in 

consultation with an IP. 

Police/DPP 

decide to take 

no further action 

Appendix v 

Page 41



Page 42

This page is intentionally left blank



Audit and Governance Committee Terms of Reference 

*additions to existing Audit Committee responsibilities in italics 

Membership: 9 County Councillors politically proportional to the composition of the 
Council. 

Frequency of Meetings: 4 per annum together with such other meetings as the 
Committee Chair shall consider necessary or appropriate. 

Basic Function: To provide independent assurance of the adequacy of the risk 
management framework and the associated control environment; to assess the 
Authority’s financial and non-financial performance to the extent that it affects the 
Authority’s exposure to risk and weakens the control environment; to oversee the 
financial reporting process; and to ensure that Members maintain high standards of 
probity in their public life by carrying out investigations in respect to allegations of 
misconduct by a Member or co-opted Member.  

Specific Functions: 

(1) Advise on the adequacy and effectiveness of the Council’s corporate 
governance arrangements and internal control environment. 

(2) Monitor the adequacy and effectiveness of the Council’s External Audit 
service and respond to its findings. Specifically: 

• Consider the nature and scope of the External Audit of the Council’s services 
and functions; 

• Receive and consider External Audit Reports including the Annual Audit Letter 
and Governance Report; 

• Monitor management’s response to the External Auditor’s findings and the 
implementation of External Audit recommendations. 

(3) Monitor the adequacy and effectiveness of the Internal Audit service. 
Specifically: 

• Approve the terms of reference for Internal Audit; 

• To approve the annual Internal Audit Plan from the Head of Internal Audit; 

• Monitor progress against the Plan through receipt of periodic progress reports 
and an annual Internal Audit and Risk Management report; 

• Receive and consider major Internal Audit findings and recommendations; 

• Monitor management’s response to Internal Audit findings and the 
implementation of its recommendations; 

• Evaluate the extent to which Internal Audit complies with best practice, is 
sufficiently resourced and meets agreed performance targets. 

(4) Monitor the effectiveness of Chief Officer’s responsibility for ensuring an 
adequate internal control environment. 

(5) Monitor the arrangements for the identification, monitoring and control of 
strategic and operational risk within the Council. 

(6) Monitor the adequacy and effectiveness of the arrangements in place for 
combating fraud and corruption. 

(7) Provide an annual report to the County Council that its systems of governance 
are operating effectively. 

(8) To review and approve the annual Statement of Accounts and Statement of 
Internal Control. 

(9) The Head of Internal Audit has the right of independent access to the 
Committee and its Chair. 

Appendix vi 

Page 43



(10) To be responsible for the implementation and undertake regular monitoring of 
the Council’s treasury management policies and practices. 

(11) To formulate and keep under review a code of Conduct to promote high 
ethical standards amongst Officers and to do anything that is calculated to 
promote and maintain high standards of conduct by Officers. 

(12) To formulate and keep under review the Council’s ‘whistle-blowing’ policy. 

(13) To formulate and keep under review the Council’s arrangements for handling 
complaints and investigations by the Local Government Ombudsman. 

(14) To promote, maintain and assist the achievement of high standards of conduct 
by County Councillors and co-opted members in accordance with the 
Council’s Code of Conduct for Members.  

• To monitor the operation of the Code of Conduct for Members 

• To advise the Council on any amendment or revision of the Code 

• To secure adequate and appropriate training of County Councillors and 
co-opted Members on the Code of Conduct for Members 

• To give general guidance and advice to County Councillors on 
Members’ interests and keep under review the Register of Members’ 
Interests maintained by the Monitoring Officer. 

• To give general guidance and advice to County Councillors and 
employees on gifts and hospitality. 

(15) To grant dispensations to County Councillors and co-opted Members related 
to interests specified in the Code of Conduct for Members following written 
requests to the proper officer (Chief Executive) by a Member or Co-opted 
Member under section 33 of the Localism Act 2011, when the Council: 

a) considers that without the dispensation, the number of persons 
prohibited by section 31(4) from participating in any particular business 
would be so great a proportion of the body transacting the business as 
to impede the transaction of the business; 

b) considers that without the dispensation the representation of different 
political groups on the body transacting any particular business would 
upset as to alter the likely outcome of any vote relating to the business; 

c) considers that granting the dispensation is in the interests of persons 
living in the authority’s area; 

d) considers that without the dispensation each member of the authority’s 
executive would be prohibited by section 31(4) from participating in any 
particular business to be transacted by the authority’s executive, or 

e) considers that it is otherwise appropriate to grant a dispensation.  

(16) To establish a Sub-Committee known as the Hearings Panel to hear 
allegations that Members have failed to comply with the Authority’s Code of 
Conduct. 

• To assess and review allegations of Member misconduct. 

• To determine allegations of Member misconduct.  

 

Hearings Panel Sub-Committee Terms of Reference 

Membership: 5 County Councillors proportional to the political composition of the 
Council. Quorum of 3 members present for its duration. 

Frequency of Meetings: as often as necessary to perform its functions. 

Page 44



Basic Function: to hear allegations that a Member of the Authority has failed or may 
have failed to comply with the Authority’s Code of Conduct for Members; and 
determine in consultation with an independent person if this is the case.  

Specific Functions:  

(1) To receive reports referred from the Monitoring Officer following investigations 
into complaints and other steps associated with that function. 

(2) To conduct standards hearings and all other steps associated with that 
function, including taking into account the advice of the Independent Person. 

(3) If the panel determines that a breach of the Authority’s Code of Conduct has 
occurred, the panel can impose one or more of the following if appropriate: 

a) Censure; 
b) Report to Council; 
c) Recommend actions to the Leader of the Council; 
d) Recommend actions to Group Leader; 
e) Removal from Outside Bodies; 
f) Withdrawal of facilities, such as Council email/website/internet access; 
g) Exclusion for the Council offices or other premises with the exception 

of meeting rooms as necessary for attending Council, Committees or 
Sub-Committees and/or nominating a single point of contact; and/or 

h) Requesting the Member to undertake actions deemed appropriate e.g. 
training, issue of an apology. 

(4) To set-up when necessary an interview panel comprising of the lead members 
of each party to shortlist and interview candidates for the role of Independent 
Person. 

• To recommend successful candidates to the County Council to be 
chosen by a majority of Councillors.  

 

Page 45



Page 46

This page is intentionally left blank



 
CONSTITUTION COMMITTEE 

 
7TH NOVEMBER 2012 

 
 

REPORT OF THE ASSISTANT DIRECTOR OF 
LAW AND ADMINISTRATION 

 
A. Update following new regulations on Access to Information about the 

Council’s Formal Business. 
B. Changes to Contract Standing orders 3.4, 3.5, 7.4 and 7.5 

 
A. Update following new Regulations on Access to Information about the 

Council’s Formal Business. 
 

1. Part 4 of the Council’s Constitution contains a section setting out the detail of 

the Rules on Access to Information about the Council’s Formal Business.  On 

10th September 2012 the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) 

(Meetings and Access to information) (England) Regulations 2012 came into 

force. These Regulations made some changes to the existing rules, requiring 

amendment to the Constitution.  

 

2. The main changes relate to the requirement that public notice of a key 

decision must be given 28 clear days before the decision is to be taken.   

Similarly 28 clear days’ public notice of a private meeting must be given.  A 

private meeting is one where confidential or exempt information is likely to be 

disclosed.  The definitions of confidential and exempt information have not 

changed. The proposed changes are shown in tracked mode at Annex A.  

 
 

3. Recommendation. 

That the Committee considers the amendments as set out at Annex A 

and recommends the same to full Council for approval and adoption. 

 
B. Changes to Contract Standing Orders 3.4, 3.5, 7.4 and 7.5 

 
4. As a result of a review by Internal Audit there is a proposal to change the 

wording of Contract Standing Orders 3.4, 3.5, 7.4 and 7.5 in order to clarify 

Agenda Item 6

Page 47



the circumstances where a full tender process is not required.  The amended 

wording is set out in Annex B. 

 

5. Recommendation. 

 

That the Committee considers the amendments as set out at Annex B 

and recommends the same to full Council for approval and adoption. 

 
 
 
 

 
Christine Wray 
Assistant Director of Law and Administration 
Tel: 01452 426911 
email: christine.wray@gloucestershire.gov.uk 
 

Page 48



RULES ON ACCESS TO INFORMATION ABOUT THE COUNTY COUNCIL’S FORMAL BUSINESS

Introduction

1. The formal business of the Council is carried out at meetings of the full Council, 
meetings of other Council bodies to which it has delegated responsibility for some of its 
functions, meetings of the Cabinet and by the Leader of the Council, Cabinet Members and
Officers under “delegated powers”.  County Councillors and members of the public enjoy 
certain legal rights to discover in advance what will be discussed at each meeting, obtain 
copies of documents about items of business, to attend meetings and discover what 
decisions were made.  The public also has a right to know about certain decisions taken by 
the Leader of the Council, Cabinet Members and Officers and the reasons for those 
decisions.  These rights are usually known as “individuals’ rights of access to information”, 
and are important because they help to ensure the Council is accountable for its decisions 
and promote increased and better informed participation in the work of the Authority.  The 
purpose of this part of the Constitution is, therefore, to summarise the rules that enable 
people to obtain access to information about the Council’s business.

The public’s right to attend meetings

2. The public may attend any meeting of the full Council, a Council body and the 
Cabinet except for:

2.1 Any informal meeting of the Cabinet that may, and which the Cabinet decides shall, 
be held in private, where no formal decisions can be taken;

2.2 Any meeting, or part of a meeting, that involves the consideration of “exempt 
information”, and which the full Council, a Council body or the Cabinet formally 
resolves should not be open to members of the public; 

2.3 Any meeting or part of a meeting that involves the consideration of “confidential 
information”.

3. The meaning of “exempt information” information is described in Schedule 12A of 
the Local Government Act 1972, which is reproduced as an Appendix to these rules.  In 
essence information will be “exempt information” if it contains personal details about an 
existing, former or prospective employee or Member of the Council or another individual who 
is affected by what the Council is doing, information about prospective contracts, legal 
proceedings and negotiations with trade unions.  The Council is committed to conducting its 
business openly.  Therefore, as a general principle, it will discuss exempt information 
matters in public unless there are compelling reasons why it should not do so.

4. The meaning of “confidential information” is defined in Section 100A of the 1972 
Act.  It is important to note that this statutory definition has a much narrower meaning than 
might be ascribed to it in everyday language and catches only that information that is given 
to the Council by a government department on terms that forbid disclosure to the public and 
information that may not be disclosed under any enactment or the terms of a court order.  
Whilst the Council has discretion to allow the public access to exempt information, no such 
choice exists in relation to confidential information; the law requires that the Council must 
exclude the public when confidential information is discussed.

Page 49



The public’s right to obtain copies of the agenda to meetings and reports and 
documents that are to be discussed at meetings

5. The public is entitled to see and obtain a copy of the agenda of every meeting of the 
full Council, Council body and any meeting of the Cabinet held in public at least five days 
before the day of the meeting (excluding the day the agenda is first publicised and the day of 
the meeting itself).  The public may also see and obtain a copy of every report that is to be 
considered at the meeting and any “background paper” that was relied on to produce the 
report.  A member of the public will know whether there are any background papers to a 
report because the author of a report will list any that they have used.  Background papers 
need not be listed in the case of any report that contains confidential or exempt information.

6. Sometimes the agenda is changed, and new items of business added to it, after an 
agenda is published in accordance with paragraph 5 of these rules.  When this happens, the 
Director of Law and Administration will ensure that the revised agenda is available to the 
public as soon as a new agenda item has been added.  Any new report, and any associated 
background papers, will be made available to the public at the same time they are made 
available to elected Members of the Council.

7. Occasionally an item of “urgent business” will arise and need to be added to the 
agenda of the full Council, a Council body or the Cabinet in circumstances that precluded its 
prior publication in accordance with paragraphs 5 and 6 of these rules.  Subject to advice 
from the Monitoring Officer, the Chairperson of any meeting may add an urgent business to 
the agenda of any meeting but when they do so, they must explain why the item is urgent 
and this reason must be written down in the minutes of the meeting.

8. The public’s right to look at and obtain copies of reports and background papers in 
accordance with paragraphs 5 to 7 of these rules is subject to the limitation that they are not 
entitled to look at, or receive a copy of, any exempt or confidential information.  Any item of 
business that is restricted in this way will be clearly described on the agenda as being “not 
for publication” and contain a statement that it contains either exempt or confidential 
information within the meaning of the Local Government Act 1972.  Reports containing 
exempt or confidential information will be clearly marked in the same way.  In the case of 
exempt material the agenda and the report will specify which paragraph of Schedule 12A to 
the 1972 Act applies to place an item of business into this category.

At least 28 clear days before a private meeting ie a meeting or part of a meeting from which 
the public are to be excluded because exempt or confidential information may be disclosed, 
Cabinet must publish at Shire Hall and on the Council’s web site, notice of the intention to 
hold a private meeting, stating its reasons.  A further such notice must be published at least 
5 clear days before the private meeting and will include details of any representations 
received by Cabinet about why the meeting should be open to the public, and its response to 
any such representations.  Where compliance with this requirement is impracticable Cabinet 
must obtain agreement from the Chair of the relevant Overview & Scrutiny Committee, or 
where he or she is unable to act, the Chair of the Council, that the meeting is urgent and 
cannot reasonably be deferred.  Once agreement has been obtained notice of it and the 
reasons will be published.
Sub-committees, panels and groups

9. Council bodies may establish politically balanced sub-committees with the power to 
make any decisions that are formally authorised by the parent body.  These rules apply to a 
meeting of a sub-committee and to any Cabinet committee that meets in public.  

Sub-committees and Cabinet committees can be distinguished from panels established from 
time to time by council bodies, the Cabinet, Leader of the Council and Cabinet Members on 

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0 cm, First
line: 0 cm

Page 50



the basis that panels have no power to make a decision in respect of any Council function.  
Consequently, these rules do not apply to panels.  This does not necessarily mean that 
meetings of these groups, their agenda and any documents they produce will not be open to 
the public.  Rather it will be a matter for the parent body or the panel itself to decide whether 
and to what extent they should meet individual requests for access to information.

Groups are established by Officers to deal with a particular item of work or work area and do 
not include Members and operate in the same way as panels for the purposes of access to 
information.

Decisions by the Leader of the Council, Cabinet Members and Officers

10. All decisions that are made by the Leader of the Council and Cabinet Members 
under delegated powers must be recorded in writing.  After the decision has been made, the 
public are entitled to look at the record of decisions that are made by Leader of the Council 
and Cabinet Members and obtain copies of any decision. Paragraph 5.8 of Section 5 Part 3 
of the Constitution specifies the content of the decision record.

Key dDecisions that are made by Officers under delegated powers must be recorded in 
writing.  After the key decision has been made, the public are entitled to look at the record of 
key decisions made by Officers and obtain copies of any decision.  Paragraph 5.8 of Section 
5 Part 3 of the Constitution specifies the content of the decision record.

.
Subject to paragraph 16 below, before any key decisions are made by the Leader of the 
Council, or Cabinet Members, or key decisions are made by Officers, at least five days 
before the day of the decision (excluding the day the agenda is first publicised and the day of 
the meeting itself) every report that is to be considered and any “background paper” that was 
relied on to produce the report shall be available for public inspection.

The public is entitled to look at and obtain copies of decision records and background papers 
provided they are no more than 6 years old (4 years old in relation to background papers) 
(time begins to run from the date of the decision).

Minutes of meetings and executive decisions

11. After a meeting of the full Council, a Council body or the Cabinet, Legal & 
Democratic Services will produce a “minute” (a written record) that records, in summary 
form, every decision that was made at the meeting.  The public is entitled to look at and 
obtain copies of minutes, the associated agenda and reports and background papers 
provided they are no more than 6 years old (4 years old in relation to background papers)
(time begins to run from the date of the meeting).  The Council is not obliged to disclose 
exempt information when it publishes a minute, but if it does not and as a result part of the 
minutes would be difficult to understand, the Director of Law and Administration must 
provide a summary so that part of the minute can be understood.

As soon as reasonably practicable after the Cabinet, a Cabinet Member or an Officer has 
made an executive decision Legal & Democratic Services will publish a decision statement 
setting out:

A record of the decision including the date it was made

The reasons for the decision

Details of any alternative options considered and rejected by the decision maker

A record of any conflict of interest declared by a member of Cabinet

Page 51



A note of any dispensation granted by the Head of Paid Service relating to a  conflict 
of interest declared by a Cabinet Member

Note: Minutes are not prepared by Legal and Democratic Services in respect of decisions 
made by the Leader of the Council and Cabinet Members or Officers.

Charges for the supply of agenda, reports and background papers

12. The Council is entitled to make a reasonable charge for the copying and postage of 
minutes, agenda, reports and background papers.  Requests for photocopying and the 
supply of reports and background papers should be made to the Director of Law and 
Administration, who will be pleased to help you obtain what you need and to tell you about 
any charge that will be made for the service.

The special rules that apply to “key decisions”

13. A key decision is an executive decision that may be taken by the Cabinet, a Cabinet 
committee, Leader of the Council, a Cabinet Members or any Officer under powers 
delegated to him and which, if implemented, would be likely to:

13.1 Result in the Council incurring expenditure or the making of a saving, which is 
significant having regard to the County Council’s budget for the service or function 
to which the decision relates; or

13.2 Be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an area 
comprising two or more county electoral divisions in the county.

14. As a general rule, a decision will fall into paragraph 13.1 if the value of any 
expenditure or saving exceeds £500,000 unless the Council’s Chief Financial Officer and 
Monitoring Officer certify that it would not be a key decision and state their reasons for this 
conclusion in writing.

Note 1: The Chief Financial Officer and Monitoring Officer may issue guidance from time to 
time on the meaning of “key decisions”

Note 2; In view of the importance of key decisions they should normally only be taken by the 
Cabinet.

15. In view of the importance of key decisions they should normally only be taken by 
the Cabinet and then only if the rules set out in paragraph 5 have been complied with and
notice of the item of business which would involve the making of any key decision has been 
published in a document called a “Forward Plan” at least five days before the meeting at 
which the decision will be made (excluding the day of publication and the day of the 
meeting). Subject to paragraphs 16, 17 and 18, the Council must publish at its offices and on 
its web site at least 28 days clear days before a key decision is made a document which 
states that 

a key decision is to be made

the subject matter of the decision

the identity of the decision maker – in the case of an individual his or her name and 
title, or if the decision is to be taken by Cabinet, a list of its members

the date, or period within which the decision is to be made

a list of documents submitted to the decision maker relating to the decision

the address from which copies of such documents may be obtained

Page 52



that other documents may be submitted to the decision maker and the procedure for 
obtaining copies of them

whether any part of the meeting at which the matter is to be discussed will be held in 
private

Exceptions to the need to publish notice of a akey decision in the Forward Plan28 days 
in advance

16. The procedure that is described in paragraph 15 may only be departed from under 
the:

16.1 General exception rule; or

16.2 The special urgency rule.

The general exception rule

17. Under the “general exception rule” a key decision that the Cabinet, Leader of the 
Council, Cabinet Member or an Officer acting under delegated powers wishes to make but is 
not and cannot practically be included in a Forward Plan the document referred to in
paragraph 15 may be made if the Chief Executive gives the Chairperson of the relevant 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee a written notice that a key decision will be made at least 
five clear days before that decision is made (ie excluding the day the notice is given and the 
date of the decision).  

The notice given to the Chairperson of any Overview and Scrutiny Committee under this rule 
is made available for public inspection at Shire Hall, Gloucester at least 5 days before that 
decision is made, and also published on the Council’s web site.

As soon as reasonably practicable after giving such notice the Chief Executive must make 
available at Shire Hall and on the web site a notice setting out the reasons why it is 
impracticable to give 28 days’ notice of the key decision.

The special urgency rule

18. If the Cabinet, Leader of the Council, a Cabinet Member or any Officer acting under 
delegated powers believes a decision must be made so urgently that is not possible it is 
impracticable to give the five days notice that is required under the “general exception rule” it 
may nevertheless make the decision if the Chief Executive has given written notice of the 
key decision to the Chairperson of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee (or the 
Chairman of the Council if he or she is unable to act) and that Chairperson or the Chairman 
agrees that the decision may be made. A notice setting out the reasons why the decision is 
urgent and cannot reasonably be deferred must be made available at Shire Hall and 
published on the Council’s web site.

The Forward Plan

19. The Forward Plan is prepared by the Director of Law and Administration on behalf 
of the Leader of the Council each month.  It lists the Members of the Cabinet and all the key 
decisions it is anticipated the Cabinet, Leader of the Council, Cabinet Members and Officers 
acting under delegated powers will make over the next four months.  The Forward Plan also 
describes when each key decision will be made, the main consultees, how and when 
consultation will be carried out, and a list of documents that relate to a prospective decision 
and which are available to the public.  The Forward Plan is a public document, and copies of 

Page 53



it may be obtained from the Director of Law and Administration.  The Forward Plan is 
published monthly at least 14 days before it comes into effect and includes any outstanding 
matters from, and supersedes, the previous Forward Plan.

2019. In order that the Council may be confident key decisions are only made under the 
urgency procedure when there are good reasons for doing so the Leader of the Council will 
make a report to the full Council every three months on the use of this power.  The report will 
summarise how many decisions were made under the urgency procedure in the previous 
three months and describe the subject matter of each of those decisions.

Overview and Scrutiny Committees and the Forward Plan

210. Overview and Scrutiny Committees play an important role in ensuring that key 
decisions are well publicised through the Forward Plan.  Thus, if an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee decides a key decision was taken by the Cabinet, Leader of the Council, Cabinet 
Member or an Officer but was not included in the Forward Plan treated as such nor taken 
under the general exception or the special urgency procedure the committee may require the 
Leader of the Council to submit a report to the full Council.  The report must describe the 
decision that was made and give the reasons for the decision.  The report must also explain 
why the Cabinet, Leader of the Council, Cabinet Member or Officer believes the decision 
was not a key decision.  Alternatively, if the Cabinet, Leader of the Council, Cabinet Member 
or Officer accepts the decision was a key decision, the report should explain why it was not
advertised in the Forward Plan publicised as required nor dealt with as urgent business.

Elected Members’ additional rights of access to information

221. Under the Local Government Act 1972 all elected Members (“County Councillors”) 
have all the rights of access to information about Council business that are enjoyed by 
members of the public. In addition all County Councillors are entitled to see exempt 
information which comes under the following categories:

information relating to the financial or business affairs of any person 
(including the Council itself) but not including information relating to the 
negotiations for a contract; and

information relating to a notice given by the Council under any enactment which imposes 
requirements upon a person, or the making of an order or direction under any enactment
The 1972 Act also gives all County Councillors an absolute right to look at exempt 
information contained in the Forward Plan or a report or background paper unless it relates 
to one of four categories of particularly sensitive exempt material.  That is information about:

22.1 The adoption, care, fostering or education of a child;

22.2 The terms of a contract for the acquisition or disposal of property, goods or 
services; consultations or negotiations about labour relations;

22.3 Counsel’s advice about legal proceedings or another matter affecting the Council; 

22.4 The prevention, investigation or prosecution of a crime.

23. Only County Councillors who are Members of a committee (including the Cabinet) 
or a sub-committee that is concerned with a matter falling within paragraphs 22.1, 22.2, 22.3 
and 22.4 of these rules, or confidential material, have an absolute right to look at that 
information or attend that part of a meeting at which it is discussed.

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0 cm, First
line: 0 cm, Tab stops: 1.5 cm, Left

Formatted: Normal

Page 54



242. In addition to the rights mentioned in paragraphs 21and, 22 and 23 of these rules 
County Councillors may look at other information contained in any document, including 
exempt or confidential information, if they are able to establish a “need to know” what is in it 
to carry out their business as an elected Member of the Authority.  The same rule applies in 
relation to any meeting or part of a meeting of a committee, sub-committee (except an
informal private meeting of the Cabinet or a Cabinet committee), panel or group, even if it is 
concerned with exempt or confidential information, provided a County Councillor is able to 
demonstrate they have a need to know about its business to carry out their duties as an 
elected Member.

253. It is not possible to lay down any hard and fast rules about what a “need to know” 
means and when it may be said to arise; this will always be a matter of fact and degree, to 
be decided in the light of all the circumstances attaching to a particular request.  Judicial 
decisions, however, indicate that a need to know does not arise merely because a County 
Councillor would like to know what is in a document or may be said at a meeting.  Nor does 
a need to know enable a County Councillor to “rove through” the Council’s files in search of 
information that it is thought might be helpful to them (this is sometimes known as “fishing for 
information”).  On the other hand, a County Councillor will often be able to demonstrate a 
need to know about matters affecting their electoral division or that relate to a Council body 
or informal working group to which they belong.

264. Access to draft documents can present particular difficulties.  They may be looked 
at if they are identified as background papers to a report.  In other cases, draft documents 
will not normally be made available to County Councillors; if it is proposed to publish a 
document for debate (either in its own right or in relation to a particular decision), a County 
Councillor will rarely be able to establish a need to know what is contained in an unfinished 
version of it.

275. A County Councillor should normally ask a Head of Service for any document they 
wish to look at because of a need to know what is in it.  If the Head of Service is unsure 
whether the document should be provided, they will consult the Monitoring Officer, who is 
responsible for adjudicating on whether the information should be made available in cases of 
uncertainty.

286. A County Councillor should normally ask the Chairperson of a body that proposes 
to hold a meeting that is not open to all County Councillors for permission to attend, 
explaining why they have a need to know about what is to be discussed.  Any dispute should 
be referred to the Monitoring Officer, who is responsible for adjudicating on whether a 
County Councillor may attend a meeting when this may not otherwise be clear.

Additional rights of access to information by Overview and Scrutiny Committees

297. Parliament has decided that Overview and Scrutiny Committees should have 
additional rights of access to information to help them carry out their duty of holding the 
executive to account.  To this end they are entitled to copies of executive documents, that
contain material relating to any business that has been carried out at a Cabinet meeting, 
documents that relate to a decision made by the Leader of the Council or Cabinet Member 
under delegated powers or documents that relate to a key decision made by an Officer 
under delegated powers.  Such documents should be provided as soon as reasonably 
practicable and in any event within 10 clear days of the request. This right does not, 
however, allow an Overview and Scrutiny Committee to look at a draft document, the advice 
of a political adviser, or any part of a document that contains exempt or confidential 
information, unless that information is relevant to an action or decision they are reviewing, 
scrutinising or intend to scrutinise. if the request is refused then written reasons should be 
provided to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Page 55



Elected Members’ duty of confidence

3028. County Councillors are provided with exempt and confidential information in 
confidence.  Accordingly if a County Councillor discloses this information to the press or any 
third party they are liable to breach the Council’s Code of Conduct for Members.  In that 
event a County Councillor may be reported to the Standards Committee of the Council, 
which will investigate whether the Code has been breached, and in the event that it has may 
impose sanctions including the suspension or disqualification of a County Councillor from 
office.

3129. In view of the risks associated with any breach of Members’ duty of confidence 
County Councillors must ensure that exempt and confidential information is only used for the 
performance of their duties as County Councillors.  They should also keep the information 
securely, avoid making copies of it, and ensure that it is disposed of in a way that prevents 
anyone else from reading it (the best course of action is to return documents to the 
Democratic Services Unit so that it may be shredded).

Page 56



3.4 Subject to Contract Standing Order 6, Contract Standing Order 3.3 shall not apply to 

the following contracts which, subject to Contract Standing Order 3.5, may be entered 

into without having first undertaken a compliant tendering process:

3.4.1 Any contract under which the County Council makes a gift of money or other 

value not requiring goods and/or services. 

or 

3.4.2 Any contract entered into under a government Central Purchasing Body 

arrangement (for example, the Government Procurement Service).

Note: Where there is sufficient information contained in the listing under the Central 

Purchasing Body arrangement so that the Council can clearly identify the provider that 

represents best value for money, then the Council can enter into a contract directly 

with that provider; this will usually only relate to the purchase of goods. In all other 

circumstances, a further competition/mini-tender must be undertaken and advice must 

be sought from Legal Services and the Procurement Team.

or 

3.4.3 Any approved call off contract entered into in full compliance with the terms of 

any lawfully procured framework agreement under which the County Council 

is entitled to participate.

or

3.4.43 Any contract whose total value or total estimated value does not exceed 

£50,000 PROVIDED THAT:

(a) 3.4.4.1 the contract term does not exceed three (3) years in length; or

3.4.4.2 (b) independent written evidence of at least 3 prices on 

suppliers’ headed notepaper has been sought and received in 

accordance with the County Council’s Financial Regulations

before entering into the contract.

or 

3.4.54 Any Supporting People contract, day care contract, or bus contract for a term 

exceeding three (3) years but not more than ten (10) years, whose value does

Formatted: Indent: Left: 1 cm,
Hanging: 1.5 cm

Formatted: Indent: Hanging: 1.54
cm

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0 cm, First
line: 0 cm, Tab stops: 2.5 cm, Left

Formatted: Indent: Left: 2.54 cm,
Hanging: 2.54 cm

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Page 57



not exceed £50,000 PROVIDED THAT the Commissioning Director: Children 

& Families; or the Commissioning Director: Adults; or the Commissioning 

Director: Communities & Infrastructure (as appropriate), after consultation with 

the Director of Strategic Procurement. has authorised entry into the contract.

or

3.4.65 Any contract for a term of not more than three (3) years whose total value or 

total estimated value exceeds £50,000 but is not more than £140,000 

PROVIDED THAT:

3.4.6.1(a) the case as to why it is in the best interests of the County

Council to enter into that contract has been submitted to and 

approved by the Director of Strategic Procurement using the 

Gateway Review in the form set out in Appendix A; and

3.4.6.2(b) the Commissioning Director [or Head of Service] after 

consultation as appropriate with the Leader of the Council or 

the relevant Cabinet Member has authorised entry into the 

contract.

or

3.4.76 Any Supporting People contract, day care contract, [or bus contract?] for a 

term exceeding three (3) years but not more than ten (10) years, whose value 

exceeds £50,000 but is not more than £140,000 PROVIDED THAT:

3.4.7.1 (a) the case as to why it is in the best interests of the 

County Council to enter into that contract has been submitted to 

and approved by the Director of Strategic Procurement using 

the Gateway Review in the form set out in Appendix A; and

3.4.7.2 (b) the Commissioning Director: Children & Families, or the 

Commissioning Director: Adults, or the Commissioning Director: 

Communities & Infrastructure (as appropriate) after consultation 

with the relevant Cabinet Member, has authorised entry into the 

contract.

or

3.4.87 Any other contract PROVIDED THAT:

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: Indent: Left: 2.47 cm,
Hanging: 2.53 cm

Formatted: Indent: Left: 1.25 cm,
Hanging: 3.75 cm

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Page 58



3.4.8.1 (a) the case as to why it is in the best interests of the 

County Council to enter into that contract has been submitted to 

and approved by the Director of Strategic Procurement using 

the Gateway Review in the form set out in Appendix A; and

3.4.8.2 (b) the Cabinet, or the Leader of the Council, or the 

relevant Cabinet Member, has authorised entry into the 

contract.

Note: Contract Standing Order 3.4 does not obviate the need for compliance with 

legislation requiring a tendering process to be followed.  The completed authorisation 

record must be sent to the Council’s Director of Strategic Procurement who will retain 

the record in a register kept for that purpose.

3.5 A Commissioning Director or other Officer with delegated powers shall not:

3.5.1 enter into separate contracts; or

3.5.1 extend the term of an existing contract where a right or option to so extend is

not included in the terms and conditions of that contract;

Wwith the intention of or which has the effect of avoiding the application of these 

Contract Standing Orders or any applicable legislation.

[NOTE: Then delete the existing CSO 3.6]

Formatted: Indent: Left: 1.25 cm,
Hanging: 3.75 cm

Page 59



Page 60

This page is intentionally left blank



7.4 Subject to Contract Standing Order 10, Contract Standing Order 7.3 shall not apply 
to the following contracts which, subject to Contract Standing Orders 7.5 and 7.6,
may be entered into without having first undertaken a tendering process:

7.4.1 Contracts under which the County Council makes a gift of money or other 
value not requiring works. 

or

7.4.2 Contracts entered into under government Central Purchasing Body 
arrangement (for example, the Government Procurement Service).

such as, OGC.

Note: Where there is sufficient information contained in the listing under 
the Central Purchasing Body arrangement so that the Council can 
clearly identify the provider that represents best value for money then 
the Council can enter into a contract directly with that provider, this 
will usually only relate to the purchase of goods. In all other 
circumstances a further competition/mini-tender must be undertaken 
and advice must be sought from Legal Services and the Procurement 
Team.

oOr

7.4.3 Any approved call off contract entered into in full compliance with the terms of 

any lawfully procured framework agreement under which the County Council 

is entitled to participate. 

or

7.4.43 Any contract whose Contracts the total value or total estimated value of which 

does not exceed £150,000 PROVIDED THAT: the contract term does not 

exceed three (3) years in length...

or

7.4.47.4.5 Any cContract for a term of not more than three (3) years whoses
where the total value or total estimated value exceeds £150,000 but does not 
exceed £250,000 PROVIDED THAT:, and

7.4.54.1 the case as to why it is in the best interests of the County 
Council to enter into that contract, has been submitted to and 

Note: Where there is sufficient information contained in the listing 
under the Central Purchasing Body arrangement so that the 
Council can clearly identify the provider that represents best value 
for money then the Council can enter into a contract directly with 
that provider, this will usually only relate to the purchase of goods. 
In all other circumstances a further competition/mini-tender must be 
undertaken and advice must be sought from Legal Services and the 
Procurement Team.

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:
1.27 cm, Hanging: 1.37 cm, Tab stops:
2.64 cm, Left

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:
1.27 cm, Hanging: 1.37 cm, Tab stops:
2.64 cm, Left

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Indent: Left: 1.25 cm,
Hanging: 1.5 cm

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Default, Indent: Left: 1
cm, Hanging: 1.5 cm, Space After: 12
pt, Line spacing: At least 18 pt, Tab
stops: Not at 1.27 cm

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Indent: Left: 1 cm,
Hanging: 1.5 cm, Outline numbered +
Level: 3 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, …
+ Start at: 5 + Alignment: Left +
Aligned at: 1.5 cm + Indent at: 2.77
cm

Formatted: Font: Bold

Page 61



approved by the Director Strategic Procurement using the 
Gateway Review in the form set out in Appendix A, and

7.4.54.2 the Deputy Chief Executive: Enabling & Transition Group 
Director or Director or Head of Service after consultation as 
appropriate with the Leader of the Council, Lead Cabinet 
Member or Cabinet Member has authorised entry into the 
contract.

or

7.4.5 In respect of any other contract the Cabinet, Leader of the Council or a Lead 
Cabinet Member has authorised entry into the contract and the case as to 
why it is in the best interests of the County Council to enter into that contract 
has been submitted to and approved by the Director of Strategic Procurement 
using Appendix A.

Note:  Contract Standing Orders 7.4 does not obviate the need for compliance 
with legislation requiring a tendering process to be followed.

7.4.6 The completed authorisation record must be sent to the Council’s Director of 
Strategic Procurement who will retain the record in a register kept for that 
purpose.Any other contract PROVIDED THAT:

7.4.6.1 the case as to why it is in the best interests of the County 
Council to enter into that contract has been submitted to and 
approved by the Director of Strategic Procurement using the 
Gateway Review in the form set out in Appendix A; and

7.4.6.2 the Cabinet, or the Leader of the Council, or the relevant
Cabinet Member, has authorised entry into the contract.

Note: Contract Standing Order 7.4 does not obviate the need for 
compliance with legislation requiring a tendering process to be 
followed.  The completed authorisation record must be sent to the 
Council’s Director of Strategic Procurement who will retain the record 
in a register kept for that purpose.

7.5 A Commissioning Director or other Officer with delegated powers shall not:

7.5.1 enter into separate contracts; or

7.5.2 extend the term of an existing contract where a right or option to so extend is 
not included in the terms and conditions of that contract;

with the intention of or which has the effect of avoiding the application of these 
Contract Standing Orders or any applicable legislation.

7.5 A Group Director or other officer with delegated powers shall not authorise a contract 
following negotiations with a single contractor for a term exceeding three years 
without prior approval of the Cabinet, Leader of the Council or a Lead Cabinet 
Member

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Formatted: List Paragraph, Indent:
Left: 1 cm, Hanging: 1.5 cm, Outline
numbered + Level: 3 + Numbering
Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start at: 5 +
Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 1.5 cm +
Indent at: 2.77 cm

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Formatted: Font: 11 pt, Italic

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0.25 cm

Formatted: Font: 11 pt, Font color:
Black

Formatted: List Paragraph, Indent:
Left: 0 cm, Hanging: 1 cm, Outline
numbered + Level: 2 + Numbering
Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start at: 4 +
Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 1.9 cm +
Indent at: 2.75 cm

Formatted: Font: 11 pt, Font color:
Black

Formatted: List Paragraph, Indent:
Left: 2.75 cm, First line: 0 cm

Page 62



7.6 A Group Director or other officer with delegated powers shall not authorise an 
extension to the period of an existing contract that has been awarded as a result of 
negotiations with a single contractor such that the total term exceeds five years 
without prior approval of the Cabinet, Leader of the Council or a Lead Cabinet 
Member.

Delete 7.6

Page 63



Page 64

This page is intentionally left blank



   
 

 

 
 

 

New scrutiny structure – May 2013 

 
Report to the Constitution Committee on 7 November 2012 

 

1.1 At the meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee held on 

2 October 2012, members considered proposals for a new scrutiny structure to 

become effective following the County Council election on 2 May 2013.  The 

proposals have been developed in conjunction with the other overview and 

scrutiny committees and members from across the Council have had an 

opportunity to comment. 

 

1.2 The chairman of the committee, Cllr Rob Garnham, noted that the proposed 

structure built on the success of the Council’s current arrangements whilst 

taking account of:  

a) The new operating model that split commissioning from the delivery of 

services. 

b) The reduction in the number of councillors from 63 to 53 in May 2013. 

c) The introduction of the Police and Crime Panel. 

d) Reducing staff resources in Democratic Services and across the Council. 

1.3  Please find the following documents attached to the report: 

 

 Annex 1 -  Cllr Rob Garnham’s report to the Overview and Scrutiny 

Management Committee on 2 October 2012 

 

 Annex 2 – an extract from the unapproved minutes of the Overview and 

Scrutiny Management Committee held on 2 October 2012 

 

 Annex 3 – the changes required to the constitution if the new scrutiny structure 

is to become effective following the May 2013 election. 

 

1.4   Recommendations 

 

To recommend to the Council that the new scrutiny structure be adopted 

following the May 2013 election and the constitution changes indicated at 

Annex 3 be adopted at that time. 

 

To consider whether any changes are required to the frequency of meetings, 

including full Council. 

Agenda Item 7

Page 65



Page 66

This page is intentionally left blank



Annex 1 
 

1 
 

 
 

New scrutiny structure 

 
From: Cllr Rob Garnham, Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Management 
Committee 
 

1  Introduction   

1.1  The current scrutiny structure with six committees has worked well and has 

allowed a number of members to be involved in detailed scrutiny reviews of 

specific issues.  The council’s scrutiny activities have been recognised 

nationally in recent years, most notably in winning the Centre for Public 

Scrutiny’s 2012 ‘overall impact’ award for the Severn Estuary Scrutiny 

Commission.      

 

1.2 The current structure is largely based around the council’s directorate 

structure which came to an end in December 2011.  A new structure needs to 

be developed which takes account of the following changes: 

a) The council’s new operating model that splits commissioning from the 

delivery of services. 

b) The reduction in the number of councillors from 63 to 53 in May 2013 

c) The introduction of the Police and Crime Panel, a joint committee of the 

seven councils, to scrutinise the activities of the Police and Crime 

Commissioner from November 2012.    

d) Reducing staff resources in Democratic Services and across the council 

   

2 Members’ views  

2.1 The views of all members have been sought on the future of scrutiny and a 

number of comments were made in response to the paper published in 

January 2012.  These are summarised below: 

a) The proposals were logical and tidied up the current arrangements. 

b) Need to ensure that scrutiny looks at the right issues.  It should 

concentrate on resolving problems and tackling specific issues rather than 

trying to look at everything. 

c) For scrutiny reviews, follow the successful approach used for the Severn 

Estuary Scrutiny Commission.  The review was undertaken on one day 

and all the stakeholders were invited to attend. 

d) More opposition members should have the opportunity of becoming 

involved in chairing committees and task groups.    

e) The committees had too wide a remit.  There was particular concern at the 

lack of coverage of adult social care issues by the Health, Community and 

Care OSC. 

Page 67



Annex 1 
 

2 
 

f) There should either be a larger number of committees covering each 

council area or just one with a series of task groups looking at specific 

issues. 

g) Differing views on the need for the Overview and Scrutiny Management 

Committee.  Some members felt that it did not provide a useful function 

whilst others felt that it was essential in co-ordinating the scrutiny process. 

h) Some concern that Community Safety OSC might no longer be within the 

structure, despite being recognised nationally as an example of best 

practice.  Fire and rescue, trading standards, emergency management, 

registration, coroners and road safety should clearly be signposted as 

being under the remit of the Environment and Communities OSC. 

i) Differing views on setting up task groups.  Some members believe that 

individual committees should be able to commission groups but others felt 

that the Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee should still ‘sign-

off’ new groups to provide consistency of approach. 

j) ‘Call-in’ does not help the scrutiny process.  Can we find a way of doing it 

in a better way? 

k) The new structure needs to reflect the reduction in staff resources across 

the council. 

l) The opportunity should be taken not just to review the number of scrutiny 

committees but also the frequency of council meetings generally.  

 

3 New structure  

3.1 Having considered the views expressed by members, a suggested new 

structure for scrutiny is attached at appendix A.  This builds on the success of 

our current arrangements whilst taking account of the changes highlighted in 

a) to d) in paragraph 1.2.   

 

3.2 There is still a need for a body that fulfils the role of the Overview and Scrutiny 

Management Committee to ensure that limited scrutiny resources are 

deployed in the most effective way.  There may be scope to combine the 

committee with the strategic performance and budget monitoring role of the 

Budget and Performance OSC.   

 

3.3 The call-in process by its nature is always likely to be adversarial and the 

Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee provides a forum for call-ins 

to be dealt without impacting on the other scrutiny committees.     

 

3.3 The Environment OSC should be renamed Environment and Communities 

OSC and take on a wider remit including the fire and rescue service, trading 

standards, libraries and the local economy. 

 

3.4 The Health, Community and Care OSC (renamed Health and Care OSC) and 

Children and Young People OSC (renamed Children and Families OSC) 

would continue largely unchanged.  Although it has been suggested that 

Page 68



Annex 1 
 

3 
 

health and adult care should be scrutinised separately, this would make little 

sense at a time efforts are being made to integrate health and social care 

activities.  The new work planning approach adopted by the committee has 

allowed key issues to be identified and specific reviews to be undertaken. 

 

3.5 The new Police and Crime Panel is a statutory requirement and will take on 

the crime and disorder aspects of the former Community Safety OSC 

alongside scrutiny of the Police and Crime Commissioner.  This is a joint 

scrutiny committee of the seven councils.   

 

3.6 To make this structure successful meeting arrangements will need to be more 

flexible with more meetings being arranged as necessary.  Task groups 

looking at specific issues have proved to be a real success story for scrutiny in 

recent years.  They need to continue but there may be opportunities to adopt 

new approaches to undertaking reviews such as one day scrutiny 

commissions.   

 

3.7 Meetings should not be held for the sake of holding meetings and it is 

suggested that a minimum of four meetings of each scrutiny committee should 

be held each year.  This principle could be extended to full council, reducing 

the number of scheduled meetings to four each year – February, May, 

September and November.  This would not prevent additional meetings being 

arranged as business dictates. 

 

4 Next steps 

 A new scrutiny structure will be considered by the Constitution Committee 

before a formal recommendation is made to full council on 21 November 2012.  

The new structure will become effective from May 2013 when the new council 

is elected.   

 

 

 

Page 69



Page 70

This page is intentionally left blank



                       Appendix A 

 

 

Overview and Scrutiny Management 

Board 

Police and Crime Panel 

(joint committee of the 7 councils) 

Environment and Communities  

 

Time-limited task groups  

(These groups can cut across the responsibilities of more than one scrutiny committee and may include both county and district councillors) 

 

Multi-agency services to 

communities eg. 

highways, public 

transport, waste, fire and 

rescue, trading standards, 

libraries, planning, flood 

management, local 

economy 

Children and Families  

 

Multi-agency services 

eg.  children’s social 

care, ‘chaotic’ families,  

safeguarding, 

education, youth 

support,  children with 

disabilities  

 

Scrutiny of draft budget 

Scrutiny monitoring 

Commissioning task groups      

Call-in 

Performance                 

Finance                        

‘Meeting the Challenge’ 

Procurement                       

Risk management 

Scrutiny of Police and 

Crime Commissioner 

Police precept 

Police and crime plan 

Reviewing appointment of 

Chief Constable 

 

Health and Care                     

(including district representatives) 

 

Multi-agency services 

eg. acute and 

community hospitals, 

community services, 

public health, mental 

health services, adults 

with disabilities,  adult 

social care, 

safeguarding 

P
a
g
e
 7

1



P
a
g
e
 7

2

T
h

is
 p

a
g

e
 is

 in
te

n
tio

n
a
lly

 le
ft b

la
n
k



Annex 2 
 

Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee –  

Extract from the unapproved minutes of the meeting held on 2 

October 2012 

 

27. FUTURE SCRUTINY STRUCTURE  

Members considered a report which set out proposals for a new scrutiny structure 

from May 2013 following the County Council election.  The chairman noted that the 

structure attached to the report built on the success of the Council’s current 

arrangements whilst taking account of:  

a) The new operating model that splits commissioning from the delivery of 

services. 

b) The reduction in the number of councillors from 63 to 53 in May 2013. 

c) The introduction of the Police and Crime Panel. 

d) Reducing staff resources in Democratic Services and across the Council. 

He suggested that, linked to the proposals, consideration be given to reducing the 

frequency of meetings.  He believed that this principle could be extended to full 

Council with a reduced number of full Council meetings each year. 

 

The vice-chairman stated that the call-in process built walls between members and 

did not help the scrutiny process.  He suggested that consideration be given to 

setting up a separate committee to consider call-ins and petitions.  

 

A member said that full Council was the arena for political debate on key issues.  

Debate should not be curtailed and meetings should take as long as needed for 

members to have their say.  He believed that there was a case for more rather than 

less full Council meetings. 

 

Another member believed that it was important that members were given the 

opportunity to debate the big issues and she felt that this was lacking at present. 

 

The scrutiny structure attached to the report was supported and it was agreed that it 

should be referred to the Constitution Committee.  The Constitution Committee 

should also be asked to consider wider issues relating to the frequency of meetings.   

Action – Simon Harper 

Page 73



Page 74

This page is intentionally left blank



Annex 3 

New scrutiny structure – proposed changes to the constitution 

 

PART 3 – RESPONSIBILITY FOR FUNCTIONS 
 

3.10 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEES 

 

Introduction 

 

3.10.1 The roles of overview and scrutiny committees are set out in Article 8 of the 

Constitution; 

 

3.10.2 Work programmes, except those of the Audit Committee, will be agreed by the 

Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee, which will also establish overview 

and scrutiny policy and working practices and related Member training and 

development; 

 

3.10.3 All overview and scrutiny committees, except the Audit Committee, will undertake 

work in relation to service area key targets, Council’s key priorities and issues of 

public interest or concern including by use of focussed task groups;  

 

3.10.4 The Council will appoint the overview and scrutiny committees set out in the left 

hand column of the table below to discharge the overview and scrutiny functions on 

behalf of the Council (as conferred by Section 21 of the Local Government Act 

2000, Sections 7-10 of the Health and Social Care Act 2001 and Section 19 Police 

and Justice Act 2006) as set out in the right hand column of the same table.   

 

 Scrutiny committee Terms of reference 

Overview and Scrutiny 

Management 

Committee 

 

12 County Councillors 

Direct, carry out and manage the overview and scrutiny functions 

of the County Council by: 

 

1. Co-ordinating and overseeing an annual planning cycle 

for the whole overview and scrutiny function of the 

County Council. 

 

2. Commissioning all Scrutiny Task Groups, including 

agreeing their objectives, their political balance (if any) 

and time limit. 

 

3. Managing, co-ordinating and reviewing resources 

available to support time limited task groups 

commissioned by all overview and scrutiny committees 

with clear terms of reference delivering the roles set out 

in Article 8 of the Constitution in respect of any County 

Council functions. 

 

4. Receiving reports from overview and scrutiny 

Page 75



Annex 3 

committees and progressing the matters addressed. 

 

5. Receiving and determining all call-ins under the Call-in 

Procedure Rules. 

 

6. Carry out the overview and scrutiny functions of the 

County Council delivering the roles set out in Article 8 of 

the Constitution by providing a corporate overview of 

performance, the budget and service improvement. 

 

7. Carry out the overview and scrutiny functions of the 

County Council delivering the roles set out in Article 8 of 

the Constitution by scrutinising those County Council 

functions not covered by other overview and scrutiny 

committees.  These include Strategy and Challenge, 

Enabling and Transition, customer services, equalities 

and the Building our Future Programme. 

 

6. Receiving and monitoring regular reports from 

Gloucestershire First (the thematic partnership for the 

Economy under Gloucestershire Conference) in respect 

of the Gloucestershire Economy. 

 

7. Making a report and recommendations to the Council 

with respect to local crime and disorder matters. 

Budget and 

Performance  Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee 

 

 

9 County Councillors 

1. Carry out the overview and scrutiny functions of the 

County Council delivering the roles set out in Article 8 of 

the Constitution by providing a corporate overview of 

performance, the budget and service improvement. 

 

2. Carry out the overview and scrutiny functions of the 

County Council delivering the roles set out in Article 8 of 

the Constitution by scrutinising those County Council 

functions not covered by other overview and scrutiny 

committees.  These include the Chief Executive’s 

Support Unit, the Business Management Directorate and 

the Building our Future Programme.  

Children and Families 

Overview and   Scrutiny 

Committee 

 

9 County Councillors 

Carry out the overview and scrutiny functions of the County 

Council delivering the roles set out in Article 8 of the Constitution 

in the context of all children and young persons’ related matters 

in accordance with a work plan approved by the Overview and 

Scrutiny Management Committee. 

 

Health and Care 

Overview and  Scrutiny 

Committee 

 

1. Carry out the overview and scrutiny functions of the 

County Council delivering the roles set out in Article 8 of 

the Constitution focussing on health issues from the 

public’s perspective including the use of task groups to 

Page 76



Annex 3 

9 County Councillors carry out its overview and scrutiny functions.  To act as a 

lever to improve the health and those services that 

impact on the health of local people, working in 

partnership with other agencies.  To address issues of 

health inequalities between different groups in the 

community.  To determine those matters referred to in 

Article 12.02.2 of the Constitution (joint committees 

concerning health service changes). 

 

2. Carry out the overview and scrutiny functions of the 

County Council delivering the roles set out in Article 8 of 

the Constitution in the context of all matters relating to 

adult social care. libraries and information, equalities, 

customer services and lifelong learning. 

Environment and 

Communities Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee 

 

9 County 

Councillors 

1. Carry out the overview and scrutiny functions of the 

County Council delivering the roles set out in Article 8 of 

the Constitution in the context of matters relating to 

• highways, waste management, planning, 

transport and other Environmental Services; 

• the fire and rescue service, emergency 

management, trading standards, registration 

service and coroners; 

• libraries and information and lifelong learning. 

 

2.     Scrutinise the actions and decisions of the responsible 

authorities under Section 5 of the Crime and Disorder 

Act 1998 in relation to their crime and disorder functions. 

  

 

3. Receiving and monitoring regular reports from 

Gloucestershire First in respect of the Gloucestershire 

Economy. 

 

Community Safety  

Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee 

 

9 County Councillors 

1. Scrutinise the actions and decisions of the responsible 

authorities under Section 5 of the Crime and Disorder 

Act 1998 in relation to their crime and disorder functions. 

 

2. Carry out the overview and scrutiny functions of the 

County Council delivering the roles set out in Article 8 of 

the Constitution for all matters relating to the fire and 

rescue service, emergency management, trading 

standards, registration service and coroners. 

 

Page 77



Annex 3 

Specific Functions of Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee 

 

3.10.5 The Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee shall have the following 

additional functions: 

 

1. To co-ordinate and manage the County Council’s overview and scrutiny function; 

 

2. To publish the Council’s annual overview and scrutiny plan; 

 

3. To commission and co-ordinate Scrutiny Task Groups, other than that of the Audit 

Committee; this may include the commissioning of a Scrutiny Task Group jointly 

with one or more of the District Councils in Gloucestershire; 

 

4. To take such other steps as are necessary to promote the efficient and effective 

exercise of the Council’s overview and scrutiny function; 

 

5. To develop and implement a system for monitoring the performance of Scrutiny 

Task Groups and overview and scrutiny committees; 

 

6. Where matters (other than a called-in decision) fall within the remit of more than 

one overview and scrutiny committee, determine the division of responsibility; 

 

7. To promote good practice in the operation of the Council’s overview and scrutiny 

function and to develop and manage a programme for Member training in the 

overview and scrutiny function and committee process; 

 

8. Overall responsibility for the finances and other resources that the Council makes 

available to the overview and scrutiny function (if any); 

 

9. To report annually to the full Council on its and all overview and scrutiny 

committees’ work undertaken during the year and make recommendations for future 

work programmes.  The report will consider and may make recommendations to 

secure adequate resources are available for the discharge of the overview and 

scrutiny function.  Upon receiving this report, the full Council will consider any 

recommendations on the resources available to the overview and scrutiny function 

and take such action as it considers necessary to address those recommendations.  

This function is in addition to reports to full Council from the Overview and Scrutiny 

Management Committee and overview and scrutiny committees on specific issues 

during the year;  

 

10. To agree the individual work programmes proposed by the overview andscrutiny 

committees (except the Audit Committee).  In the event the Overview and Scrutiny 

Management Committee considers those work programmes cannot be 

appropriately resourced, co-ordinated and/or managed, they may be referred back 

to the relevant overview and scrutiny committee for further consideration.  

Ultimately, work programme content shall be decided by the Overview and Scrutiny 

Management Committee. 

 

Page 78



Annex 3 

Meetings and Proceedings of overview and scrutiny committees 

 

3.10.6 Meetings of Overview and Scrutiny Committees shall take place in accordance with 

Scrutiny Procedure Rules 9 and 10. 

 

3.10.7   Scrutiny Task Groups 

 

1. This paragraph 3.10.7 shall apply to all Scrutiny Task Groups. 

 

2. All Scrutiny Task Groups will undertake work in relation to directorates’ key targets, 

Council’s key priorities and issues of public interest or concern.  Each Scrutiny Task 

Group will operate in pursuit of the aims set it by the Overview and Scrutiny 

Management Committee. 

 

3. Where the commissioning of a Scrutiny Task Group is urgently required, the Lead 

Members of the Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee may agree to do 

so in advance of the next Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee meeting. 

 

4. Before each Scrutiny Task Group begins its work, the terms of reference will be 

agreed by the Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee or its Lead 

Members. 

 

5. The final report of each Scrutiny Task Group will be presented to the relevant 

overview and scrutiny committee, which may as a result, make recommendations to 

any Council body or any other public body or third party or, exceptionally, the full 

County Council.  The Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee will receive a 

summary of the findings of each scrutiny review. 

 

6. Scrutiny Task Groups will operate to a deadline set by the Overview and Scrutiny 

Management Committee at their creation, although this may be amended by 

agreement of the Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee.  At the expiration 

of the deadline, the Scrutiny Task Group will cease to exist. 

 

7. Unless there are exceptional circumstances, there will be no more than eight 

Scrutiny Task Groups appointed by the Overview and Scrutiny Management 

Committee in existence at any one time, in general limited to two Scrutiny Task 

Groups per Committee (not counting the Audit Committee). 

 

8. Each Scrutiny Task Group may adopt whatever means of operation it deems most 

effective, bearing in mind the resources available to it.   

 

3.10.8 Proceedings of the overview and scrutiny committees 

 

Overview and scrutiny committees will conduct their proceedings in accordance with the 

Scrutiny Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of the Constitution.  

Page 79



Annex 3 

PART 4 – RULES OF PROCEDURE 
 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PROCEDURE RULES 

 

1. WHAT WILL BE THE NUMBER AND ARRANGEMENTS FOR OVERVIEW AND 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEES? 

 

The County Council will appoint Overview and Scrutiny Committees, whose remits and 

functions are described in Part 3 of the Constitution. 

 

2. CO-ORDINATION 

 

The Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee, will co-ordinate the work of the 

overview and scrutiny committees, except the Audit Committee. 

 

3. MEMBERSHIP 

 

3.1 All County Councillors, except Members of the Cabinet, are eligible to be members 

of overview and scrutiny committees.  

 

3.2 The Annual Meeting of the County Council will determine the membership of the 

overview and scrutiny committees, (except members appointed under Overview 

and Scrutiny Procedure Rule 6) which must be politically balanced.  

 

3.3 The County Council has determined that overview and scrutiny committees, which 

shall be politically balanced, shall have the following numbers of County Councillors 

 

3.3.1 Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee 

 

12 County Councillors 

 

3.3.2 Budget and Performance Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 

9 County Councillors 

 

3.3.3 Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 

9 County Councillors 

 

3.3.4 Health and Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 

9 County Councillors 

 

3.3.5 Audit Committee 

 

6 County Councillors 

 

Page 80



Annex 3 

3.3.6     Environment and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 

 9 County Councillors 

 

3.3.7     Community Safety Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 

 9 County Councillors 

 

4. CASUAL VACANCIES 

 

4.1 A vacancy on an overview and scrutiny committee arises when a County Councillor 

resigns from membership of the committee. 

 

4.2 Vacancies which occur on overview and scrutiny committees will be filled on behalf 

of the Council by the Chief Executive using delegated powers to appoint County 

Councillors to seats so as to maintain the political balance of the committee.  The 

filling of the vacancy will be reported by the Chief Executive to the next meeting of 

the committee.  

 

5. CO-OPTEES AND VOTING RIGHTS SCHEME 

 

5.1 Overview and scrutiny committees shall be entitled to appoint up to three people 

who are not County Councillors, as non-voting co-opted Members.  

 

5.2 In addition to co-opting Members under paragraph 5.1, the Community Safety 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall be entitled to appoint one person from each 

District Council in Gloucestershire and one person from the Gloucestershire Police 

Authority as voting co-opted Members.  Each District Council in Gloucestershire 

and the Gloucestershire Police Authority may nominate one substitute to attend on 

behalf of a co-opted Member, and when attending have the same voting rights as 

that co-opted Member. 

 

5.3 In addition to co-opting Members under paragraph 5.1, the Health and Care 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall be entitled to appoint one person from each 

District Council in Gloucestershire as voting co-opted Members.   Each District 

Council in Gloucestershire may nominate one substitute to attend on behalf of a co-

opted Member, and when attending have the same voting rights as a co-opted 

Member. 

 

5.4 Appointments of co-opted Members shall not affect the Council’s duty under 

Section 15 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 (political balance). 

 

6. EDUCATION REPRESENTATIVES 

 

6.1 The overview and scrutiny committee dealing with Education shall include in its 

membership the following statutory voting representatives: 

 

6.1.1 Church of England Diocese representative; 

Page 81



Annex 3 

 

6.1.2 Roman Catholic Diocese representative;  

 

6.1.3 Parent Governor, representatives (three). 

 

6.2 When dealing with issues other than education the representatives at 6.1.1, 6.1.2 

and 6.1.3 above shall not vote though they may stay in the meeting and speak.  

 

7. CHAIRPERSON OF OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEES 

 

The Chairperson of every overview and scrutiny committee and of the Overview and 

Scrutiny Management Committee will be appointed by full Council and will be drawn from 

amongst the County Councillors sitting on each committee. 

 

8. MEETINGS OF THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 

 

There shall be a minimum of four ordinary meetings of the Overview and Scrutiny 

Management Committee in each municipal year.  In addition extraordinary meetings may be 

called from time to time.  An extraordinary meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny 

Management Committee may be called by the Chairperson, by two voting members of the 

Committee or by the Chief Executive if he or she considers it necessary. 

 

9. MEETINGS OF OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEES (OTHER THAN THE 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE) 

 

There shall be a minimum of four ordinary meetings of each overview and scrutiny 

committee (other than the Audit Committee, which shall determine its own meetings 

schedule and Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee) in each municipal year. 

 

10. Extraordinary meetings of overview and scrutiny committees (other than the 

Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee) may be called by the: 

 

10.1 Chairperson of the relevant overview and scrutiny committee; 

 

10.2 Chairperson of the Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee after 

consultation with the membership of the Overview and Scrutiny Management 

Committee; 

 

10.3 At least one quarter of the overview and scrutiny committee membership signing a 

notice to the Chief Executive; or  

 

10.4 The Chief Executive. 

 

Page 82



   
 

 

 
 

Appointment of members to the Independent Remuneration Panel 

 
Report to the Constitution Committee on 7 November 2012 

 

1.1 One of the members of the Independent Remuneration Panel resigned in 

December 2011.  Two other panel members have indicated that they wish to 

stand down in the longer term but have agreed to remain members for the time 

being.   

1.2 Advertisements for replacement members were placed during the late Spring 

and early Summer and a number of applications were received.  Five candidates 

were interviewed on 23 October 2012 by three members of the Constitution 

Committee - Cllr Mark Hawthorne (committee chairman), Cllr Jeremy Hilton and 

Cllr Lesley Williams.  Mr William Alexander, the chairman of the Independent 

Remuneration Panel, attended the interviews in an advisory capacity. 

1.3 Each candidate was asked a number of questions.  These covered their 

knowledge and experience, their understanding of the role of a county councillor 

and how this was changing and their view on the current allowances scheme.  

They were also asked how they would balance the need to attract more people 

to stand as councillors against the growing financial pressure on councils.  

 

1.4 After detailed consideration, the interview panel was unanimous in 

recommending that the following two candidates should be invited to join the 

Independent Remuneration Panel. 

 

• Richard Blamey – Richard lives in Stanton and has worked for many years in 

the pension industry.  He brings a wealth of knowledge from his working life 

and has more recently become a parish councillor. 

 

• Gwyn Morgan – Gwyn lives in Tetbury and has worked in education as a 

teacher and head of department.  He is closely involved in community 

activities through his work for local charities and as a school governor.  

 
1.5 If the appointments are approved, Richard and Gwyn will join William Alexander, 

Fiona Miles, Philip Lowery and Quentin Tallon as members of the panel. 

 

1.6   Recommendations 

To recommend that Richard Blamey and Gwyn Morgan are appointed to the 

Independent Remuneration Panel. 

Agenda Item 8

Page 83



Page 84

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 New Standards Regime for Members
	Appendix i Draft GCC Code of Member Conduct based on DCLG Model
	Annex A to DCLG model - DPIs Statutory Interests
	Appendix ii Draft GCC Code of Conduct based on ACSeS Model
	Appendix iii Draft Revised Register of Interests Form
	Appendix iv Draft Complaints Procedure
	Appendix v Complaints process flowchart
	Appendix vi Draft Terms of Reference Audit and Governance Committee

	6 Access to Information Regulations and changes to Contract Standing Orders
	Annex A - RULES ON ACCESS TO INFORMATION ABOUT THE COUNTY COUNCIL Tracked changes doc (2)
	Annex B
	Annex B - Works CSO Final 29-10-2012 (2) (2)

	7 New Scrutiny Structure
	Annex 1 - scrutiny review report Oct 2012
	Annex 1 - proposed scrutiny structure Oct 2012
	Annex 2 - OSMC minute extract
	Annex 3 - constitution changes

	8 Independent Remuneration Panel

